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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors of Sanbase
Corporation Limited (“Sanbase Corporation” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
hereby present the audited condensed consolidated results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

At the time of writing, the fifth wave of the pandemic in Hong
Kong is coming to an end, with the government gradually
relaxing its preventive measures, laying the foundation for an
economic recovery. However, it is expected that it will take
some time for the Grade A commercial property market to
return to the pre-COVID or the level before 2019. We notice
that enterprises prefer to pause instead of acting: even when
their office space can no longer meet their business needs,
they still prefer to restack their existing offices, and wait until
the prospect of the macro-environment becomes clear before
making their next move. The latest Hong Kong Property Report
2022 released by the Rating and Valuation Department shows
that the overall vacancy rate of office buildings in Hong Kong
has increased for three consecutive years to 12.3% at the end
of 2021. Grade A commercial properties were the weakest
among all the property categories, not only having risen for
three consecutive years in vacancy rate but also being the
only one that reports a decrease in rent rate out of all property
categories.

Inevitably, the fit-out industry for Grade A commercial
properties in Hong Kong will be affected to a certain extent
and drag the Group’s business performance. Nevertheless, the
Group adopted a relatively conservative approach during the
Year. By actively participating in more small-to-medium scale
projects with smaller contract sums, the Group sought stability
and development while maintaining its market position and
operating cash flow. Despite total revenue for the Year of the
Group recorded a drop of approximately 14.2%, revenue from
the restacking business remained stable, reflecting the stable
demand in the market. It is also worth mentioning that after
last year’s adjustment, the Group’s design business was able
to rebound, with its revenue increasing by more than four folds
during the Year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHE

In the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), our PRC
subsidiary delivered a steady growth during the Year,
reporting revenue growth of 91.2% year-on-year. The growth
is a testament to our service quality as well as the growing
recognition from customers and peers. Although the Group’s
performance in the fourth quarter was under pressure due to
the recent wave of the pandemic in the PRC, we are confident
that the operating environment will become more favourable as
the pandemic gradually stabilizes, which will drive the demand
for commercial property fit-out services. Under the leadership
of our excellent management team in the PRC, we look forward
to seizing market opportunities after the pandemic and hence
driving the business performance.

In the long run, we remain optimistic about Hong Kong and the
PRC fit-out market. Although the industry will continue to suffer
from the pandemic and other macro uncertainties in the short-
to-medium term, we believe Grade A commercial properties,
being the cornerstone of financial and economic activities, will
shine through when the pandemic subsides, supported by the
national economic development of the Greater Bay Area. Once
the uncertainties dissipate, the Group will be able to leverage
its extensive subcontractor network and client resources, as
well as its excellent service quality to seize the tremendous
opportunities brought by market recovery.

Lastly, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, subcontractors, board members and
staff for their continuous support to the Group, and hope that
we can share a fruitful results when the industry recovers.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BBEE

Revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margin

Loss before income tax

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
per share
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Audited
REZX

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2022
20224
HKD’000
FET

413,122
22,737

5.5%

6,833

(5,735)

HK cents

Bl

(2.90)

2021
20214F
HKD’000
FAETT

481,286
25,847

5.4%

953

397

HK cents
JEN

0.20

Change in
percentage
APLLE

-14.2%
-12.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBN®WKR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the PRC. Our role
in these fit-out projects entails the overall project management,
coordination and implementation of fit-out projects by engaging
subcontractors from different trades for their services and
labour, providing expertise such as controlling the quality
aspects of the projects and carrying out the corresponding
project management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell
fit-out which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant
premise having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking
which involves upgrading and re-planning and providing
modification works to existing interior structures of a premise;
(iii) reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that the existing tenant installed; (iv) design;
(v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others which involve
providing minor repairs and general builder’s maintenance work
to the tenant’s office facilities, pest control and emergency
call services, project management services and mechanical,
electrical and plumbing (“MEP”) consultancy services.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, our business continued
to be adversely affected by the Covid-19 (“COVID-19")
pandemic. Customers became more conservative in their
decisions regarding interior fit-out services, restacking and
design of their offices. Work from home policy of some
customers also suppressed the demand of new offices. In
tendering for new projects, we have lowered our bidding prices
in order to secure a higher chance for success in bidding.
COVID-19 has become more serious near the year-end. In the
fourth quarter, the strict COVID-19 quarantine measures or
lockdown restrictions implemented in Hong Kong and some
of the PRC cities have caused the postponement of certain
projects.

Under this challenging economic environment, for the year
ended 31 March 2022, revenue of the Group was HKD413.1
million, representing a decrease of 14.2% compared with
HKD481.3 million recorded last year. Revenues from bare shell
fit-out and restacking, which were the main sources of our
Group’s income, have been decreased during the year. Gross
profit was HKD22.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a decrease of 12.0% compared with HKD25.8
million recorded last year.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the loss attributable
to owners of the Company was HKD5.7 million while profit
attributable to owners of the Company was HKDO0.4 million for
the corresponding period of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare shell
fit-out; (i) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v) churn
works; and (vi) maintenance and others. For the year ended
31 March 2022, the revenue of the Group was HKD413.1
million, representing a decrease of 14.2% compared with
HKD481.3 million recorded last year. The decrease was mainly
attributed to the adverse effects brought by COVID-19 on
the economy of the PRC and Hong Kong. The pandemic has
caused postponement or halt of certain projects during the
strict COVID-19 quarantine measures or lockdown restrictions
implemented in Hong Kong and some of the PRC cities.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the year ended 31 March 2022
and 2021:

Bt % B B8

KA

AEEBMNBRAETERABHELERE: () EE:
R:(v)&e: WWEBEIR RVIREREM -HE
2022F3H3TBIEFE AEBMHKAR413.18EH
T BREFHASI3EEB T TN E14.2% AR D E
ZZ AN COVID-19& 15 ¥ 1 B & & B B 48 B 55 R+
Fl2 - BIEEBHAEERFBE W T E RS
COVID-19FR Bk 5 pE Sk BT SHMR &) BRI A THHE B EL
B E (-

TXRE Y A EEEH E2022F k2021F3A31B ILFE
IR B E DR AR

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

HKD’000 % HKD’000 %
FE T B FE T Bt

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out EREEE 172,096 41.7 249,810 51.9
Restacking s 200,058 48.4 201,024 41.8
Reinstatement EIR 6,419 1.5 11,112 2.3
Design HE 7,326 1.8 1,402 0.3
Churn works TRTIE 25,696 6.2 16,522 3.4
Maintenance and others REREM 1,527 0.4 1,416 0.3
Total At 413,122 100.0 481,286 100.0

As shown in table above, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
41.7% and 51.9% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out was HKD172.1 million for the year ended
31 March 2022, representing a decrease of 31.1% compared
with HKD249.8 million recorded last year.

From 1 April 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, we
were newly awarded a total of 33 bare shell fit-out projects with
a total project sum of HKD248.3 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Cost of sales and Direct margin

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised of subcontracting
charges and staff costs. Cost of sales for the year ended
31 March 2022 was HKD390.4 million, representing a decrease
of 14.3% compared with HKD455.4 million recorded last year.
The decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue.

Defined as revenue less subcontracting costs, cleaning
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses, the
direct margin of the Group indicates the overall project
profitability before taking into account other fixed costs. The
following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s direct
margin by project types for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
2021:

B 7 G B8 ()

HERAREZMNE
AEBRBEERKATERRESBEARE TRA &
F202293HA31HEFEMHEEK AN AB390.48 BB
T BREFHAG5.48 8B T N E14.3% 7%z TR EIL
AR =5

AEBEEFBTEAERARSBRA - BRER -
RBAXRREZHAT IR REME TR ANAEEE
HEARMBER - TR AN EBH E20229F K2021F
SHBIEFEREBEERIE D EEF HAME:

Year ended 31 March
HZEZ3A3MBLLEE

2022 2021
20224F 20214

% of % of
HKD’000 revenue HKD’000 revenue
FET HKABDE FET KA EGSHE

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out EREEE 26,568 15.4 26,782 10.7
Restacking R 17,550 8.8 23,282 11.6
Reinstatement EIR 844 13.1 661 5.9
Design E 1,819 24.8 1,182 84.3
Churn works EWRTIE 3,401 13.2 412 2.5
Maintenance and others REREM 220 14.4 289 20.4
Total et 50,402 12.2 52,608 10.9

The Group’s overall direct margin was HKD50.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022, representing a decrease of 4.2%
compared with HKD52.6 million recorded last year. The direct
margin ratio for the year ended 31 March 2022 was 12.2%,
representing an increase of 1.3 percentage points compared
with 10.9% for the corresponding period of last year. Such
increase was due to the decrease in materials cost, cleaning
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses.

HE2022F3A31B L FE AEENEREHEEFE
ABS04EBAE L REFTH26BEEBLHL4.2% °
HE2022F3A31AEFE EEFBEE AE12.2% &
EFREMN10.9% I IEE D B 2B REHNM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBN®WKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Other income

Other income for the current year was HKDO.1 million,
representing a decrease of 98.7% compared with HKD3.7
million for the corresponding period of last year. The amount
represents government grant in respect of the Distance
Business Programme (2021: the Employment Support Scheme)
received from the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses was HKD30.3 million for the current
year, representing a decrease of 19.2% compared with
HKD37.6 million recorded last year. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to (i) a decrease of HKD5.0 million in legal
and professional fee; and (i) a decrease of HKD1.7 million in
administrative staff costs.

Finance costs
Finance costs which comprised mainly the interest on the lease
liabilities amounted to HKDO.2 million for both years.

Income tax (expense)/credit
Income tax expense for the current year was HKDO0.4 million
while income tax credit for last year was HKD1.4 million.

(Loss)/profit for the year
Loss was HKD7.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2022
while a profit of HKDO0.4 million was recorded for last year.

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was HKD5.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2022, while profit attributable to
owners of the Company was HKDO.4 million for last year.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,

GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group had net current assets of HKD109.9 million (31 March
2021: HKD117.8 million), including cash and cash equivalents
balances of HKD119.8 million (31 March 2021: HKD112.5
million) mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and
Renminbi (‘RMB”).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 1.8 times as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021:
2.0 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2022
was nil (31 March 2021: Nil). The gearing ratio is calculated as
total debt divided by total equity as at the respective period
end.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2022. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HKD136.9 million as at 31 March 2022
(831 March 2021: HKD142.5 million).

The Group did not make any foreign exchange related hedges
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had not pledged
any assets to secure bank facilities or finance lease obligations.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any material
capital commitment in relation to the acquisitions (31 March
2021: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not have
any significant investment, material acquisition or disposal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD4.0 million (31 March 2021: HKD16.2 million) in
respect of 3 (31 March 2021: 5) construction contract(s) in its
ordinary course of business. The surety bonds are expected
to be released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 83 (31
March 2021: 87) employees. To ensure that the Group is
able to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best
performance levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on
a regular basis. In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s results and
individual performance. The total staff cost for the year ended
31 March 2022 amounted to approximately HKD44.9 million (31
March 2021: HKD45.2 million).

OUTLOOK

Entering the second half of 2022, as the fifth wave of the
pandemic gradually fades, and border controls are expected
to be lifted, the Group remains optimistic over the outlook of
Grade A commercial property fit-out market in Hong Kong. A
report from Savills indicated that, as the pandemic becomes
increasingly under control, the Hong Kong office leasing market
is expected to return to an upward trajectory in the second and
third quarters of the calendar year. As normal working practices
resume, companies may now have a growing incentive for lease
renewals and relocations, thus laying the solid foundation for
a rebound in the Hong Kong commercial property market and
hence driving the demand for fit-out services.

Over the last two challenging years, the Group strived to
maintain its business scale while optimizing its subcontractor
network, in an attempt to maintain or even enhance profit
margin without sacrificing quality. As the market condition
improves, the Group believes that its efforts over the past two
years will help the Group to secure larger-scale and higher-
margin service contracts, allowing us to improve financially in
the latter part of the year.

For our business in the PRC, the Group continued to
consolidate its foundation over the past year. Although
the preventive measures are unlikely to relax shortly, the
management team will continue to maintain its business scale
in the PRC, and actively look for different opportunities, such
as working with more quality subcontractors and securing more
different types of contracts when the pandemic subsides, in
order to strengthen its foothold in the PRC. In the medium-to-
long term, the Group expects the business scale in the PRC will
gradually expand, delivering stronger economies of scale and
becoming one of the contributors to its future development.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERBEHE

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 47, is the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director
of the Company since 4 January 2018. Mr. Wong was also
appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee on
8 January 2020. Mr. Wong founded the Group in 2009 and
was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong is
responsible for the strategic planning, business development,
daily operations and major decision making of the Group.
Mr. Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wong has over 12 years of experience in the interior fit-
out industry. He is also an honorary director of the 55th term
board of directors of the Yan Chai Hospital. Mr. Wong is the
spouse of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, an executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. WONG Kin Kei, aged 45, is the Chief Operating Officer
and an executive Director of the Company since 4 January
2018. Mr. Wong Kin Kei joined the Group in April 2010 and was
appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong Kin Kei
is responsible for business development, daily operations, and
technical and project management. Mr. Wong Kin Kei is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kin Kei has about 20 years of experience in the
fit-out industry. Mr. Wong Kin Kei obtained a higher diploma in
building services engineering from the City University of Hong
Kong in November 1999. Mr. Wong Kin Kei then obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the University of Central
Lancashire by distance learning in January 2007. Mr. Wong Kin
Kei also obtained a postgraduate diploma in building services
engineering from Heriot-Watt University by distance learning in
June 2013.

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 45, is an
executive Director of the Company since 4 January 2018.
Ms. Hui joined the Group in April 2015 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. Ms. Hui is responsible for daily
operations, business development, human resources and
administrative management of the Group. Ms. Hui is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. Ms. Hui then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERBEHE

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo (“Dr. Sung”), aged 61, is an
executive director and a compliance officer of the Company
since 11 March 2020. Dr. Sung was also served as a company
secretary of the Company from June 2020 to February 2022
and was re-designated as joint company secretary of the
Company with effect from 25 February 2022. Dr. Sung is
responsible for daily operations, business development, public
relations and company secretarial matters of the Group.
Dr. Sung is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Sung served as an executive
director, chief executive officer, joint company secretary and
authorised representative of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly
known as New Western Group Limited), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8242), from March
2014 to May 2019 and was responsible for accounting and
finance management, and business development as well
as company secretarial matters. From September 2004 to
February 2014, Dr. Sung served as the managing director and
a responsible officer of Tensant Securities Limited (formerly
known as King’s HT Securities Limited), a licensed corporation
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Dr. Sung has over 17 years of experience
in the financial and securities industry. Before entering the
financial and securities industry, Dr. Sung has worked for
several solicitors’ firms in Hong Kong for about 17 years.

Dr. Sung obtained a bachelor’s degree in Commerce in
Management and Marketing from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2002 and also obtained
a master’s degree in Accountancy from Lingnan University in
November 2012. Dr. Sung was awarded the distinction of an
honorary doctor in Business Administration from American
Purlinton University in January 2013. Dr. Sung is a fellow
member of The Association of International Accountants,
a fellow member of The Institute of Public Accountants
of Australia, a fellow member of The Institute of Financial
Accountants of the United Kingdom, an international affiliate of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
a fellow member of The Institute of the Certified Management
Accountants of Australia.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERBEHE

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 54, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company since 21 January
2020, and was re-designated as the chairman of the
remuneration committee on 28 January 2022. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 years of experience in financial management, treasury,
and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June
2020, Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive
director of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly known as New
Western Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8242) and he was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1041), from August 2020 to October 2020.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EERBEHE

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 50, is
an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee, the nomination committee, and the
remuneration committee of the Company since 9 August 2021.

Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in the apparel
manufacturing and trading business in Hong Kong since 1994,
and he has participated in business connected to fine timepiece
business since 2007. Since 2018, Mr. Chan has served as a
senior advisor of Lion Rock Capital Limited, an Asian private
equity investment firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan currently also
serves as (i) the voting member of the Hong Kong Jockey
Club; (ii) the chairman of the 7th term board of directors of
the Education Development Foundation Association; (iii) the
manager of Yan Chai Hospital Chan lu Seng Primary School;
and (iv) the director of Hong Kong Network for the Promotion of
Inclusive Society Limited.

Mr. Chan holds a master’s degree in Business Administration
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a bachelor’s
degree in Social Sciences and Communication from the
University of Southern California, the United States of America.

Mr. Law Chun Yat (“Mr. Law”), aged 34, is an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the nomination committee, and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 25 February 2022. Mr. Law
has over 8 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
and taxation matters. Mr. Law holds a bachelor’s degree of
Commerce (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Baptist University. Mr. Law is a member and Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWmE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by an
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022,
as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622, Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”), are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 7 and pages 9 to 14 respectively of
this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° The Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the pandemic or public health incident, which may slow
down the progress of projects;

° We depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting costs, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;

° The Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWmE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

° Most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are non-
recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on its
success on project tenders;

° We determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° Qur liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to affect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group is able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits include but
are not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWmE

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, EMPLOYEES AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group has maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2022, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognise their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”) relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance. For more
information about the measures adopted by the Group for
environmental protection and regulatory compliance during
this financial year, please refer to the environmental, social and
governance report of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 118 to 119 of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’'s expectations
and managing funds prudently. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy which comprehensively consider the macro-
economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its
own development strategy. Final dividends declared by the
Company shall be subject to Shareholder’s approval. The Board
will review the dividend policy from time to time and it may be
revised as appropriate. There is no assurance that the Company
will be able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount
set out in any plan by the Board.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(THE “AGM”)

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
30 August 2022 to Friday, 2 September 2022 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be affected. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong (on or after 13 August 2022: 17th Floor,
Far East Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong)
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 August 2022.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 122 and in note 30(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD73.4 million (2021: HKD78.0 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to less than HKDO.1 million (2021: HKDO.2
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 22 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and
“Share option scheme” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”) and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 204 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen (appointed on 9 August 2021)
Law Chun Yat (appointed on 25 February 2022)

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (resigned on 30 November 2021)
Pang Chung Fai, Benny (retired on 30 July 2021)

In accordance with Articles 109 and 113 of the Articles and
pursuant to Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Wong
Kin Kei, Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, Mr. Cheung Chi Man,
Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat
(collectively, the “Retiring Directors”) will retire as Directors by
rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, have agreed to offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM. Further particulars of the
Retiring Directors are set out in the circular to the shareholders
sent together with this annual report. All other existing Directors
shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party or in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2022.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 18 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 31(a) and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)), which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities
transactions by the directors were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(A) Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

Name of Directors/
chief executive

Capacity/
nature of interest

EERESTRAEBREQFHEMHA
BEERG HEROREZVESER

NP
KRB (#)

A) REQBAEBRBROREABRONGTE

Number of
issued shares held/
interested in

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

i/ EEREEN HE BT
EE/BETHRABHSE B/ EEME ERITROEE BRABDL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%

corporation

THFEEE X E g (Hst1)
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 2) 56.25%
Felhrt e @ s (Htit2)
Mr. Wong Kin Kei Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 (Note 3) 18.75%

mEREELE

corporation
REEEER

Notes:

1.

Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in
consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sai Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in
112,500,000 Shares, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist
of 37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment
Group Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Kin Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV
of the SFO.
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EERESTRAEBREQTHEMAE
BEEZERG HBEROREZVESERK

NP
KRB (#)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated
corporations

(B) RMEH ZEKR O TR

Number of

Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
Fifs/ BEREN
EZ/BETHABHS HEEE AR SRIEENEE ERTRAHEA FREDHL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%
International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FHFEAE tEHRAF (f#2) ERBAA
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
TEBRT (M) e FRAR (Mi#2) EBER
Mr. Wong Kin Kei J&J Partner Investment Beneficial owner 12,500 100%

Group Limited (Note 3)

BEREAAE BEERAR (H:3) ERBAA

Notes: Biat

1. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai 1. FERZEIDNFHEEENRSG RIEZSF KB
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s EBRFIEXNV BEANRIHFAERNEES
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited, RABIMESTPHEEER-

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed 2. WBEBHFRBEKROMEXVE EmEEMNZER
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”. NEERIE R EE] -t S HRAAFTELRR
Madison Square International Investment Limited held A B B 1TIRANH56.25% + B8 A& A8 X &) &) M B
56.25% of our issued share capital and thus was our & -
associated corporation.

3. Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed 3. BREFBHFRBEKRMNEXVE EMEEMER

corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”.
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited held 18.75% of
our issued share capital and thus was or associated
corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Share of the Company

FERRREMALTRERTRS XA

ERONERR KR

R2022F3A31B  IBEEMA BIEFES MEERD
FIBRGFEEME LML ERE AR KK KBH
fED5% KA EERRABREESIA LT (KRAE

EHERBITHRABRIMN FHEET:

REQABDEBERROREBERONETR

Number of issued

Capacity/ shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
s/ ERRESEN
MRER A S/ ERME ERTROME BFRESL
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 1)
HEEFRAAF (Hit1) EnEAA
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 56.25%
corporation
THFRE (HFT1) REEEER
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie (Note 2) Interest of spouse 112,500,000 56.25%
FEBE L (Hitz) il (B =
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 3)
TBEERRR A= (H523) EnEAA
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EREEKE (H773) R EEER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 4) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%
] fE& L (Bit4) o B
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under Part XV of
the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie is the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai Chuen
and she was also deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000
Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4. Ms. Ho Sin Ying is the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei and she was
also deemed to be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 20,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration of
HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report, hence no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the adoption of
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with
immediate effect, pursuant to which all eligible persons will be
entitled to participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognise the contributions by certain eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continuing operation and development of the Group, and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be granted under
the Share Award Scheme is 2,056,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. No Shares have
been granted under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report.

A summary of the terms of the Share Award Scheme has been
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 October
2018.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2022 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to an arrangement that would enable the Directors or their
close associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, the Directors, company secretary and other officers
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
incur in or sustain by the execution of their duties in their
respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good
faith.
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 11.2% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 35.6% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 9.8% of the Group’s
total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable to the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 31.8% of the
Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted a review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of Shares by the trustee through on-
market transactions at prevailing market price as stipulated
under the Share Award Scheme (as defined above), neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 36 to 55
of this annual report.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo is the executive Director, the
compliance officer and the joint company secretary of the
Company respectively, his biographical details are set out
on page 16 of this annual report. Ms. Huang Shiyao is the
joint company secretary of the Company, she is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report which explains
how the Company complies with the environmental, social and
governance reporting guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules is set out on pages 56 to 105 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least
25% of the issued shares were held by the public) as required
by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and
as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of the annual
report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen and Madison
Square International Investment Limited (collectively referred
to as the “Covenantors”), and the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries) entered into a deed of non-
competition (the “Non-competition Deed”), pursuant to which
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably, jointly and severally
given certain non-competition undertakings to the Company.
Details of the Non-competition Deed are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2022 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Director, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference which are no less exacting terms than those set out
in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”). Currently, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham
Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2022, which is of the opinion that such
information has been prepared in accordance with all applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. There has been no
change in auditors since the date of the listing of the Company.

PUBLICATION OF 2022 ANNUAL REPORT
The 2022 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on
the website of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2022 with all the code provisions in the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, except the
following deviation:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, being
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been primarily
responsible for scrutinizing the performance of management in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, monitoring
the Group’s performance reporting, management and business
development, ensuring corporate governance practices and
procedures of the Group and formulating business strategies
and policies of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets
regularly to consider matters relating to business operations of
the Group, the Board is of the view that the above arrangement
will not impair the balance of power and authority of the Board
and the executive management. The effectiveness of corporate
planning and implementation of corporate strategies and
decisions will generally not be undermined.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standards set out in
the Required Standard of Dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decisions and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should carry
out their fiduciary duties in good faith, and make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management and
the joint company secretaries of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The Board has the full support of
the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors currently. The members of the Board during
the year and up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen (appointed on 9 August 2021)
Law Chun Yat (appointed on 25 February 2022)

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (resigned on 30 November 2021)
Pang Chung Fai, Benny (retired on 30 July 2021)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board has met the
requirements under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules having a minimum of three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different businesses and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they constitute
the majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between
any members of the Board. Biographies of the Directors are set
out on pages 15 to 18 of this annual report.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong Kin Kei and
Ms. Hui, for a term of three years. The Company also entered
into a director’s service agreement with Dr. Sung Tak Wing,
Leo, an executive Director, with a term of one year.

The Company has issued letters of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun
Yat, with a term of one year commencing from their respective
dates of appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment, whereas any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company. The Directors should be eligible
for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is able to request the inclusion of items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings
on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when
circumstances require. The Board held 6 meetings during the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 to consider, among other
things, reviewing and approving the quarterly, interim, annual
results and payments of dividends of the Group.

Adequate and appropriate information is circulated to the
Directors in advance of Board meetings or such period
accepted by them. Minutes of all Board and committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors. Draft minutes of all Board
and committee meetings are circulated to all Directors and
committee members for comments within the period accepted
by them after each meeting. The Directors attend meetings in
person or via telephone conference, as permitted under the
Articles of Association.

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.

40 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BEE® (5

EEgeaEREER
ARAMEMHEELATESFERECRZRE KSE
ERERRNERPMAEE EE€BARNEFTEET
flg WREFERBREREE & E2022F3 H31
AL HEERN EECCET6NSH UEE (H
FREB)EBAMMEAEEZEZE FH FEEEX
IR B o

EEFEERRTAAEFTEINEHRAKEFENR
REEREFN -FMEEFEELZEQERCEHAR
AWERET AAMHEZERN -MAEEEEREZES
ERLHEERN OANEREZEREKE E2RBES
AZEEKEEMBEAN TETREFEIR-EF
ARGARBABERMAMHEEBEFREE LA
hEE®-

AEANEHERAEESS EEeLE8een-28
EEHNBMEARNE-ARNEAERREESE
EEeLEEQ Y ERFESHET YHESS EEY
ZEeRAREEELES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

J/J__\\l/rh—xA:tEI:l

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on
30 July 2021 (the “2021 AGM”) for the year is set out below:

Total Number of Meetings

Executive Directors
Wong Sai Chuen
Wong Kin Kei

Hui Man Yee, Maggie
Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-Executive
Directors
Cheung Chi Man Dennis
Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson
(resigned on 30 November 2021)
Pang Chung Fai, Benny
(retired on 30 July 2021)
Chan Charles Cham Chuen
(appointed on 9 August 2021)
Law Chun Yat
(appointed on 25 February 2022)

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number
of meetings a Director is entitled to attend.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by reading materials
and/or attending training courses, seminars or workshops
organised by professional bodies on corporate governance or
updated on laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

The individual records of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follows:

Directors =

Executive Directors HITES

Wong Sai Chuen FtEfF

Wong Kin Kei =RE

Hui Man Yee, Maggie FEla

Sung Tak Wing, Leo PNEES
Independent Non-executive Directors VEHITESE

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis ®E&
Chan Charles Cham Chuen o e
Law Chun Yat mER
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties during the year ended 31 March 2022 as set out below:

° developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee,
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website. All the Board committees should report to the Board
on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective
role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are
set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan
Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat and chaired by
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience as required by Rules 5.05 and
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are (i) reviewing
the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group
and considering any significant or unusual items raised by
the financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; (ii) reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and (iii) reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a
year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2022:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2021;

° reviewed the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly results announcement of the
Company for the 3 months ended 30 June 2021 and 9
months ended 31 December 2021 respectively;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management policies; and

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised one executive Director,
Mr. Wong, and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen
and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for the directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

o the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieving diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Board diversity policy will be reviewed by the Board annually.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diverse
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness of determining the optimum composition of

the Board.

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination

Committee during the year ended 31 March 2022:

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendations to the Board on

their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent

non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the

re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2021 AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan
Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
pursuant to the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2022:

° Reviewed the Group’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

° Reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management; and

° Ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

EEEZEE (&)

FEES
AAFIDRYEMES S YO MBLEE AT
VEEEERERE - ZE WM 2B IR
BEEELNES BHEEEREBRBREEBRIL S
RS SEAE EEEE

FMEE NI ERABERBELEERTANTE
ERXFEI20C)i)RAEFTERARBFHMER K
ABUAREERSREEENFMNGTBREEZZR -
MEEBSTRANXSTFMBRREBIEAEHE
R UNERYTEEFTIETABEALLHEE
HESHM MHFMSHREFELEMARARAR
BAURERMMSBRIREETE -

REE2022F3A3IBEFER HFMEZE2 2 T1E
BEILAA T

s FHASEEAHWEFLSREEEFMIBE
RIR1E

e ENRNEZSEAEZTNSNAEEBZFM
FB R

s HMRIBEFHEHTCABEALZEREHA
FHFMcEE-

+

L

se@an 2022FEHs 47



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\l’q—"—\\Ai
1E E/D#ﬁ%

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management (other than the Directors) for the year
ended 31 March 2022 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HKD)

FsEE (GBr)

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001%1,500,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2022, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fee charged by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit service was HKD1.4 million.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers and has recommended
to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or publication and
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and regulation.
The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
The internal control system (embedded in the operations of the
Company and forms part of the Company’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in the business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that is identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the three
months ended 30 June 2021, six months ended 30 September
2021, nine months ended 31 December 2021 and the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk annually, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carry out an annual review of the internal control
system including financial, operational and compliance control,
and risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of the internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business/members of the Group under the
principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to interview management and perform focused walk
through tests on the internal control system of members
of the Group on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
of the potential risk.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)
Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

the head of each department, such as the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have an impact on the profit and price based
on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that dealing in the shares
of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by

the

Company, has presented its review report and made

recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at the board meeting.

52 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BElEERAIPEE &)

&R B IR AT AL ()
B FERER:

e XRHMAXZTE(ERMBEHBREZTS)SEMER
BEBEHERE FER STHBRLHEENRER
BERENRAZ-RYTBARES ARFHBER
AeREMEBEXH LAEFERSRN

s HNERGEMLMRAFBERENER RAWE
HHEREEFTERNATw LANEZEREA
BMABZILEBEEARARARND -

i
i

R 5 A e AR

m

e —MME AFIMERBTEERZA (BER
BREERXS)REGEM MR AE19E K E20E
FIREZERRERMIIUTHREZER IR
CHBEAE BRIFRIBERTE RERF
HX%THZ/EZHHKC’

FR - ARARBENIIBRBHEBRCAETEZLZES
RXEFERELESR BRLZBESCHBEEENR -
VTHEZGEALMNETGRIAE TEASERIA
FA%R -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\l’q—"—\\Ai
1E E/D#ﬁ%

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then mitigate the risks.

The Directors have strengthened corporate governance
practices, including the formalisation of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an ongoing basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate)
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
As at 31 March 2022, the joint company secretaries of the
Company were Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo and Ms. Huang Shiyao.
Both Dr. Sung and Ms. Huang have undertaken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training to update her skills
and knowledge during the year pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph K of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business, 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

c. Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
quarterly, interim and annual reports, press announcement and
release, updated and key information of the Group are available
on the Company’s website at www.sclhk.com. The Company’s
website offers a communication channel between the Company
and its Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars
serve the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published its memorandum of association and
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Purpose, Period and Scope

Sanbase Corporation Limited (“Sanbase” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively known as the
“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”), is pleased to present our
Environmental, Social and Governance report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) to its stakeholders. The purpose of
this ESG Report is to provide an overview of our sustainability
strategies, policies and performance from 1 April 2021 to
31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise
stated, the reporting scope of this ESG Report is the same as
last year, covering the Group’s operations at offices in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the latest
disclosure requirements under the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” (the “‘ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of this Report, we have consolidated the
following reporting principles outlined in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

Reporting Principle Description

BRARE

BREERN HREREEGE

HEEEQR ([HE|H[XAF] ERAEWE QR
(S [ "EB] = [EM)RARERZEHE 25 BM
MIRE - HERERHRE ([ESGHE]) -ESGH &
MBS ERHER2021F4818 E2022943H31H
([REME D NTHERRERRE BRERENEE -
BRBEBHBPIN AESCHRENFESHEREFTHER
MEBAEBRBTERAFEARENME ([RE]) WA
ERESEE -

]EER
AESGHENREBTEMERZMERAA ([BX
Fil) GEM&EZ E MR B (GEM £ # 8 | ) i £:20
R RR e hEa®mEEsl] (TESGHRERE
Sl RIHERERE

HE R
PR B SR AR - R AP D B A ESG 345 45 3| it i
BT 445 FR A o

Our Approach

wmERE i ut E2A 510Dk 7
Materiality The ESG issues presented in the ESG We take stakeholders’ views into
HEM report should be sufficiently important to consideration and identify the key ESG

investors and other stakeholders that they
should be reported.

ESGHEF 2IMESGHEAHIREE I H
MWFNEREEXER ATURE-

issues through stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment. For details

of the engagement description and the
assessment process, please refer to the
sections “Stakeholder Engagement” and
“Materiality Assessment”.
HMZRFHNENER LBBHHER
EEERUEF A EHABESGEE -FH
DB R RRIENFE B2 (&)
E2HE| R [EBMTME] BE&-
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Reporting Principle
&R A

Description

i

Our Approach
e A 510k

Quantitative
21t

Balance

T

Consistency

—HE

Key performance indicators (‘KPIs”) shall be
disclosed in a measurable way to allow for
evaluation and validation of the effectiveness
of the ESG policies. Quantitative information
should be accompanied by a narrative,
explaining its purpose, impacts, and giving
comparative data where appropriate.
AREMER ((FAREREE) EUATEE
WA EE LAER M REBRFEESGIE E’Jﬁ?ﬂz
1 o gﬂ:éfﬂﬁéﬂﬁﬁuﬁﬂﬂ REHEN TE
WHBEZ BN TRMHELBEE -

The ESG report shall be prepared in an
objective manner. Selections, omissions, or
presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence decision-making shall be avoided.
ESGHEBATEM A RE B2 AaE
ERERARNER ERIARKRA -

A consistent methodology shall be applied
throughout the preparation of the ESG report
in order to facilitate meaningful comparisons
of ESG data. The Group should disclose any
changes to the methods or indicators used,
or demonstrate other relevant factors that
affect a meaningful comparison.
EREEESGHENmEBIZD  BEA W
A UERBESCHIBEETEEENLR
$’$lﬁé%&5§ﬁﬁﬁﬁ FES R R E A #1E  5
PAYEEERLBNEMBEREE-

This ESG Report discloses information
and KPls in a quantitative approach.
Sufficient description and comparison
have been included wherever applicable.
RESGHEUNTEER EZHBEER KBRS
MIER - FEEABIERT - AT Dt
Kb e

This ESG Report presents both the
achievements and challenges in an
objective way, which provide an unbiased
overview of the Group’s overall ESG

N performance.

RESG # & B E I 2R AN B RE KRBk
B RASENERESGEBRHTTAE
H Bt -

We apply consistent reporting scope and
methodologies in the report preparation
as the previous year. For a meaningful
comparison of the KPls, year-on-year
comparative figures are provided.
BMEREREBEPRAEN —FER
WRESHE R F L REBRERIETE
TAEENLE RERLLRETF -
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Explanations on Data

Financial data in the Report are extracted from this annual
report. Other data are extracted from the Company’s internal
management system and statistics, and are partly comprised of
data from previous years. Unless otherwise stated, Hong Kong
dollars is used in this ESG report as its functional currency.
The intensity disclosed for the Reporting Period was calculated
by dividing the amount of the emission/waste/resource
consumption by the Group’s revenue of approximately
HKD413.1 million in the Reporting Period.

Confirmation and Approval

The information contained herein is sourced from official
documents and statistics of the Group, and management and
operation information collected in accordance with the Group’s
systems. This ESG Report has been confirmed and approved
by the Board of the Company.

Access to This Report

This ESG Report is available in both Chinese and English
versions. In case of any discrepancies between these two
versions, the English version shall prevail. This ESG Report
is available on both the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

Feedback

We place great emphasis on our stakeholders’ opinions. We
value every feedback and comment from our stakeholders in
developing and improving our sustainability strategy. You are
welcome to provide your opinions or suggestions concerning
this Report or the Group’s sustainability performance at:

Address: 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

Email: ir@sanbase.com.hk

Website: www.sclhk.com
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors”), | am
delighted to share with our stakeholders the Group’s ESG
Report. It has been a year marked by challenges and changes
in the way we live and work. In spite of the coronavirus disease
(the “COVID-19”) pandemic, our Group remains committed to
our mission of achieving sustainability and contributing to the
environment and community in a positive way.

Corporate governance is crucial to ensuring that core values
remain consistent and the organization remains resilient. During
the Reporting Period, we have established an ESG governance
structure to ensure sustainability issues are addressed as part
of our corporate agenda. In the meantime, we conducted an
ESG risk assessment to identify, evaluate, and prioritize the
impacts of ESG-related risks on the Group in order to timely
manage and respond to the identified risks.

Sustainable development has been integrated into our four
core areas of focus in order to embrace it into our corporate
strategies. With the foundation of ISO9001: 2015 Quality
Management System, 1ISO14001: 2015 Environmental
Management System, and ISO45001: 2018 Occupational Health
and Safety Management certifications, our Group continuously
focuses on formatting and improving its policies and measures
to safeguard every aspect of daily operations with the purpose
of maintaining sustainability at all levels.

COVID-19 has taken root worldwide, affecting a wide range
of industries and enterprises, as well as bringing economic
downturns. Gaining a foothold in the midst of uncertainty
is indeed a challenging task. Despite the difficult operating
environment, we remain committed to providing quality service
to our customers. And, as always, every employee, worker and
subcontractor strives to exceed customer expectations with
professionalism, dedication and perseverance.
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The Group regards our employees as our greatest asset, and
we recognise their importance in business development. As part
of our commitment to establishing a harmonious and secure
workplace, we offer our employees a competitive and ample
benefit package as a reward. When it comes to combating
COVID-19, we strive to ensure the safety and health of all
workers as well as minimize the risk of virus spread at work. In
this regard, we closely follow government directives and provide
relevant information to our employees on a regular basis.
Various preventive measures are also taken at our workplaces
and construction sites to prevent pandemics.

Large-scale staff and community activities were put on hold
in order to protect our employees’ safety and health due to
the spread of COVID-19 during the Reporting Period. Despite
this, we continue to engage and motivate our employees to
have a positive influence on the community and protect the
environment. In support of the Community Chest’s Dress
Causal Day, we raised funds to improve community wellness.
Additionally, we supported Earth Hour to promote environmental
protection and reduce energy consumption.

It is my greatest honour to express my sincere gratitude to
each and every stakeholder who has continuously supported
the Group. Looking forward, we will continue to pursue
sustainable growth in our businesses while not compromising
our commitment to environmental and social sustainability, and
team up with our stakeholders to ensure a better future for the
next generation.

WONG Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Founded in 2009 with its base in Hong Kong, the Group was
successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange in 2018,
specializing in providing interior fit-on solutions to clients
whose offices are predominately situated in Grade A office in
Hong Kong and the PRC. Devoted to the mission of “Building
a Brighter Future”, the Group has achieved consistent and
encouraging results over the years under the leadership of a
committed and enthusiastic management team.

SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

ESG Governance

A sound governance framework is essential to ensure
sustainability issues are addressed as part of the Group’s
corporate agenda. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) holds
a critical responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies and
overseeing the ESG issues. Delegated by and reporting to the
Board, the Senior Management oversees the management,
development and implementation of the sustainability
matters of the Group with the support from the subsidiaries’
representatives.

ARAEE

AN £ B K 3L R 20094 - B EL A BB - WR2018F &

BEABMARSGHARAGTGEMAN L EFfAHRA

EXBMUREAERTBEFRAEFTENTPRETANE

BRI R - ANEBEBAIEETETHNRR] B

FHEABNERBBRNEET SFRMEB THE
SABENKR-

AGERR L&

ESGEA
BEOEAMERYBRASELZBEERLEERT
BEMN—HOBIMAZTHEZE-EETG ([EBE])
HASEMNESGRERESCEEABHMBEEX - 2R
ERERESFEERIMEFERE EMBATR
FNXZHT EBEAEETTHELSEBNER BR
R E -

¢ Hold overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting
HAKER ESG KR MEEEREIE

e QOversee the Group’s ESG mission, management approach and goals

Board of Directors EEBAKEE ESG Fuy » BEEAH K BE

3

Senior Management
SREEE B R E ESG BB R B

Identify and evaluate the Group’s ESG-relates issues and risks

RAIRFEREBH ESG HREEERER

Subsidiaries’
Representatives

MEARRE

Monitor and manage material ESG-related issues and risks
EER EEE K ESC HEEER AR

Review the progress made against ESG-related goals and targets
5 ESG HE B R B BHERER

Oversee the development of the sustainability strategy and goals
EBNSERRER R BENER
Preview and implement ESG-related policies and practices

e Flag emerging ESG-related risks and opportunities
TRACER ESG ARZE YT HfE b K% i

¢ Implement sustainability policies, procedure and initiatives
B IHERREE BFRIES

e Collect ESG information and data for ESG disclosure
# ESG #E WK ESG S E MBS

HEKERF 202268 EHE

61



62 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R #E8RkER/MSE

To strengthen our risk mitigation and response, the Group
conducted an ESG risk assessment (including climate change
and supply chain management) during the Reporting Period.
Identification, evaluations and prioritizations of ESG-related
risks are performed based on their significance and likelihood
of affecting the Group. To mitigate the significant ESG risks, we
have developed corresponding controls for each identified risk
and delegated the implementation of the controls to the related
departments. Ultimately, the Board is responsible for monitoring
and managing the ESG risks. Detailed information about our
corporate governance and risk management approach can be
found in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of
the annual report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group places great emphasis on stakeholder engagement,
which we believe can optimize our approach to business
development and sustainability strategy, thus allowing us
to strive for excellence. We are committed to interacting
with stakeholders and collecting their feedback on our
business operations and sustainable development through a
series of formal and informal communication channels. The
communication channels include:

AMBBEMORARERNES AEBERSHAE
TESGR R (BRRAIGE L RHEEEIR) - RIE
ESGHEARBRHASEELTENEEERATRENE
BEETHB A RERBEF - RBEKEXESGE
B A S S E 3 R R B Bl E A8 FE /Y12 B 45 i
THEFREENERZETHBASMN - RK EFS
BEEANERESGRER BERMANEERER LA
RERTHNFE F2HERD[EEEARRSE] —

g
FHESR

AEBHEERFNEL2R RAMABRETAELRK
PIMEBERRAIFEZRRE CMERMERE
KEB-RPBRIREFNELE ABB - RIE
ARFEANBEBRELERFHRMNEHEER
ARERRNRE - BARERR:

Stakeholders Key Topics Engagement Channels
B E )| SHRE
Shareholders/Investors o Financial performance ° Annual general meetings and other
BRI EH W RE shareholder meetings
e Corporate governance BRRBFRERAMBRRRE
TEER e  Corporate reports and
° Risk management announcements
2 B B 12 rERERRE
° Operations and strategy o Meeting with investors and analysts
=B N R B (if applicable)
HEEERSNMEE (WER)
Employees ° Welfare and benefits o Regular meetings
(== teEA EHE &
° Working environment ° Training, seminars and briefing
TERIE sessions
e Training and development Fl-HAaegkEne
Bl R ER e Emails
. Occupational health and safety B
BERREETE e Mid-year and annual performance
° Self-actualization appraisal
BRER FrhRFERRAGE
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Stakeholders Key Topics Engagement Channels

BHHE TE SHERE

Customers o Safe and high-quality products and Company website, corporate reports
=P services and announcements

Suppliers/Subcontractors

WS IRAERE

Government/Regulators

B EEHE

ZE RBEEMMRYE
° Stable relationship

1B E B R

° Information transparency
BRHE

o Integrity
MAZ

° Business ethics
EEERE

° Long-term partnership
REEHBR

o Honest cooperation
BEEE

o Fairness and openness

o Information resources sharing

é/ \/\%

° R|sk reduction
P (K 2 B2

o Taxation compliance
BMiEE R

o Regulatory compliance
EEAH

° Business ethics

EE3EES

DR DERERAE
Email and customer service hotline
EBREPF RS
Feedback and reports
R 88 & 5
Regular meetings
EHgE

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

¥%ez HEmeR SHEKEH
Regular meetings

EHg®E

Reviews and assessments

et RET G

Tendering process

BERF

Emails, circulars and manuals
BE B R FM

Company website

NI b

On-site inspections and checks
B RimE

Research and discussion through
work conferences, work reports
preparation and submission for
approval

FRITEER REMBERIITERE
LAERHE - AR R Rt
Corporate reports and
announcements

tERERRE

Company website

YNSIFER

Compliance control

BREE

+
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Stakeholders Key Topics Engagement Channels
FOE & SHERE
Community o Community involvement o Voluntary work
it = Mlm 2 EIIE
° Social responsibilities o Charity and social investment
HEEHE BERUTERE
° Employment promotion o Company website
fRE R YNSIFER
o Transparent information
FBRER
Materiality Assessment EEMFTM

Material sustainability topics for this Report are identified, AFEMERAFEEFTERA =S T EUTHHE
prioritized, and analyzed using a three-step approach to #THE EELEHEFEEINT UEERFBEEN T ES S
materiality assessment to ensure that the topics disclosed are MERAEBEMEHEEE -

important to both stakeholders and the Group.

In addition to the above routine stakeholder communication [k FiltERABH N EBBEEIN EHREHAIRET
channels, a stakeholder engagement survey was conducted HMHELEEHAE UBBRMANFHEH SEESG
during the Reporting Period to invite our stakeholders to rate FREETI R -BRBEBRIFHENBEIRER M
various ESG issues. In listening to our stakeholders’ concerns 85497 i hns& 35 FIEY AT 45 48 1 5 8 -

and opinions, we are able to enhance our sustainability

approach in an effective way.

Below shows the three steps of the materiality assessment: T REEUFTHN =R

Issues Identification =78 5% 7!
A list of 27 relevant ESG issues was identified with reference to our business knowledge, routine stakeholder

engagement, latest industry trends and daily operations
RIBERFNEBANE  ERSNESR  BHTEBZRAFEEE  WE27{EMEE ESC #E

Issues Prioritisation 588 % EF

Stakeholders and management were invited to participate in an online survey and provide ratings on each of
the ESG issues in regard to their importance
EHEREEBWRESRESAS  WHSE ESG RENEE IR TR

Analysis and Reporting 24T &

Collect the ratings and conduct a materiality analysis to identify issues that are the most material to the Group
WERFTRIGETEEM D URESAERREENZEE
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Materiality Matrix
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List of issues considered: EERMZEBFTE:
Environmental Product and
Protection and Operational Service Community
Green Operation Practices Responsibility Work Environment Contribution
BRARBEBEE HEER EmBEREER IHERE B & &
1 Climate Change 8 Supplier/Subcontractor 13 Fitting-out Services 19 Diversity, Equality and 26 Participation in
Management Quality Anti-discrimination Volunteer Activities
RIRZ Wl AEHEERE KERBEE Zlt - FERRER SEE T
2 Greenhouse Gas and 9 Supplier/Subcontractor 14 Health and Safety 20 Labour Relation 27 Charitable Giving
Air Emissions Environmental and of Fitting-out
Social Performance Services
Assessment
=R R ERBEN HIER, A ERE EERBRERER BIRE% ZERD
RutgRBTH 2
3 Energy Conservation 10 Anti-fraud and 15 After-sales Services 21 Employee Health and
Corruption of Fitting-out Safety
Services
£ B¢ R¥ERER KERBERRS EIREHEZS

4 Water Conservation 11 Anti-corruption Training 16 Customer Service 22 Training and
Development

N REFE P R% b= [
5 Use of Resources 12 Emergency Response 17 Privacy Protection 23 Labour Standards
Plan
BRER 2R FhER R BTEE
6 Waste Handling 18 Advertising and 24 Staff Benefits
Promotion
FEEYMRIE EERER 8 T&F|
7 Green Procurement 25 COVID-19 Response
MRERE [& ¥ COVID-19
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Below table outlines the 13 material issues identified in the

a2 ag

materiality assessment. These issues would be discussed in %5 :#EB R ARESGHE F 4w
details in this ESG Report.

Material Issues

Sections of this ESG Report highlighted

TERBAREZ AT EBRNEMISEEZEZE -

o

EEMEE ERRANAESGHREED
S Energy Conservation Energy, Air and GHG Emissions

10

13

14

15

16

20

21

22

23

24

25

A

BP BE

Use of Resources
BIR{ER

Anti-fraud and Corruption
REEERETS

Fitting-out Services Quality

KERBEE

Health and Safety of Fitting-out Services
RERBEREZ 2

After-sales Services of Fitting-out Services
RIERGE &R

Customer Service

P R

Labour Relation
L TEIER

Employee Health and Safety
BETREEZE

Training and Development
Bl R B R

Labour Standards
BIR%E

Staff Benefits
BETREF
COVID-19 Response
F& % COVID-19

IR BERRREREHEN
Environmental Protection
BRI

Business Ethics and Integrity
HEEEEHE

Quality Services

BE RS

Occupational Health and Safety
BEERETS
Customer-first Approach
BEPZEEWMAE
Customer-first Approach
BEPE MR E
People-centric Workplace

AANRBARE TR

Occupational Health and Safety
BEREREZD

Talent Development
AT ERE

Labour Standards
BIRE
Talent Acquisition

AT HREE

Combating COVID-19
1% COVID-19

+

HEEE

A7 20226EHs OF
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Sustainability Strategy

As a responsible corporate citizen in the industry, Sanbase
is committed to achieving sustainability and influencing our
environment positively. We have implemented a sustainability
policy in order to raise our employees’ awareness of the
importance of sustainable business development. Based on
ISO9001: 2015 Quality Management System, 1ISO14001: 2015
Environmental Management System and 1SO45001: 2018
Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems, we
continuously improve our internal management mechanism with
the aim of ensuring a sustainable business at all levels. Our
sustainability policy is being reviewed in a regular manner to
ensure the practice in place is effective. Our business practices
adhere to all legal requirements, and we would continue to
monitor and mitigate the adverse impact of our operations on
the environment in alignment with our corporate objectives.

Embracing sustainable development into our corporate
strategies, Sanbase advocates the United Nations’ Sustainable
Development Goals (“UNSDGs”) by integrating them into
the four core areas of focus. We identified seven of the most
relevant UNSDGs that are tied to the goals of our four areas of
focus, and are committed to playing a key role in fulfilling the
agenda.

ECONOMIC GROWTH INEQUALITIES
[ HITE®
"

Lt

;:7 —

o |
v

4 QuALITY
EDUCATION
|

Goal

To provide employees with a
harmonious and safe workplace, as
well as competitive and abundant
benfits and welfare

BEE

RESRE—ENEZEZNIE

BT AREHRFHINEEER
MFE

People-centric
Workplace
BARAEH

TERIR

1 CLIMATE

ACTION .

Fre Environmental
Protection

RERE

L2 4

Goal

To prioritize environmental protection
and not to compromise the
ecosystem and the surrounding
environment

B2

BEBREREEN » THEEERRS
MBEBRR
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Operational I
Excellence Lt

SHMEE

Community
Investment

HERE

AHFEERER

EAXENBEANLEAR HEBITRERUFE
FRITHAMORBELAEBGNTEE - RMEEEY
BEZRBIR URERSBEMHWEBEIHIHENESR
FEEZMRRH EI1S09001 : 2015 EEIEE X -
ISO14001 : 20153x 3% & H 48 R [ 1S045001 : 20185
¥RRETZ2EREERNAR L BMATEHTSZS A
EEEY BEERARMCECSEAEEMNAFESRE-
RPN FHESRERR S THETER UBRME
MW HMEER KM EBERETHRAEEEZEZ
BMBEBER AR RPN EFERIBEN IR ZE -
HEMHEEERRE B

BARmBEERMAARMOLERRE H2EEH A H
MARERRER((HEETREARRAR]) KE
AN O A% 0 B E <R IS o AP RERE T A M B2 3R 4P P
EXRENERRARNBAREIREERAR I
BHOREERZZRETEEBSER -

12 RESPONSIBLE

CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION
ARE

ARREE

O

Goal

To maintain the highest level of
service quality for our clients
BE
AEMNEFRERSK TR

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

&

Goal

To embrace corporate social
responsibility by giving back to the
community and building a better
society for our next generation

BE

AECELSEML  BELE  BRM
WT—RER—EEXFNES

| it

ale
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OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Our goal in this area of focus contributes to the following
UNSDGs:

12 RESPONSIBLE

CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION
ARE

HRREE

QO

Goal

To maintain the highest level of service quality for our clients.

Material topics to be covered
° Supply Chain Management
° Quiality Services

° Customer-first Approach

° Advertising and Labelling

° Privacy Protection

EMELENEINESAEDRERUTHSE
FEBRER:

BE

REMANEPREREKFORBEE-

BRENEERE
. HrEEE R
. 84 iR %5

As an established provider of fitting-out services, Sanbase has
never compromised on service quality, aiming to provide clients
with fitting-out services, construction management, design
consultancy and project management services of the highest
quality. From procurement to service provision, we scrutinized
each step to ensure that quality services were delivered to our
clients. The Group has obtained the ISO9001: 2015 Quality
Management System certificate. With its foundation, we have
aligned our internal control mechanism with the international
standards for maintaining the quality of products and services.

EAE—REENEERBRED HEERBEE £
mx&m ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁa*ggmﬂwmﬁﬁm

RETHARBEEEERS - HBEZIRER
% ﬁﬁﬁ# 1“%ﬂtﬁ?%ﬁézuﬁ%ﬁ§
FIREEBENRY - NEE S Z51S09001 : 20155
EEERBAREFZE-UNEBRABER RMAMHRIBILEG
B ERRIZEEZS WRBERERENEE -

+

L
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In addition, we are in stringent compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in relation to the health and safety of
products and services, advertising and labelling, privacy and
intellectual property issues. It includes but is not limited to the
Buildings Ordinance, the Building (Minor Works) Regulation
and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Advertising Law of the PRC (P EAREMBEEEL))
and the Law of the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((FEARLMB BB EREZREE) ). During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of material
breaches of relevant laws and regulations.

Excellent Partnership

Sanbase believes that managing the quality of the products and
services provided by our suppliers and subcontractors is critical
to providing superior quality service to our customers. We are
committed to maintaining a high-quality and ethical supply
chain and promoting responsible practices among our suppliers
and subcontractors. In achieving this, we have outlined our
procedures, standards, and requirements for the selection and
management of suppliers and subcontractors in our continuity
of business plan, policy and procedure of subcontracting and
procurement, code of ethics policy, and relevant policies.

An essential component of quality control is choosing the right
suppliers and subcontractors. A standardized procedure has
been formulated for the selection process, with the selection
criteria of qualifications, creditworthiness and company profile.
The most suitable one would be selected and recorded in the
list of qualified suppliers and subcontractors, which would be
reviewed periodically.

During fitting-out activities, we strictly monitor the performance
of our suppliers and subcontractors. In the case of any breach
of the terms of our agreement, we will supervise the suppliers
and subcontractors and may hire temporary staff or assign
other approved suppliers and subcontractors to take over the
project and assume responsibility in order to ensure the smooth
operation of our services. A periodic evaluation would also be
carried out to ensure suppliers and subcontractors are meeting
our requirements.
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As of 31 March 2022, the Group has engaged a total of
1,181 suppliers and subcontractors. During the Reporting
Period, the Group required all its suppliers to implement
supplier engagement practices. By embracing the elements
of sustainability in supply chain management, we strive to
bring a positive impact across the entire value chain through
the Group’s influence. The majority of the suppliers and
subcontractors are located in Hong Kong, which allows us to
minimize the greenhouse gas emissions arising from materials
delivery and travelling. We also encourage suppliers and
subcontractors to opt for products with less packaging to
reduce unnecessary waste and prioritize the use of energy-
efficient equipment such as LED when selecting suppliers.
Moreover, we have developed a code of ethics policy,
environmental policy, equal opportunity policy, as well as human
resources and labour standards policies which we expect our
suppliers and subcontractors to adhere to in order to promote
social and environmental sustainability jointly.

B F2022F3A31H  AEBEHER 1BIREREE K&
RAEHE - RBREHABAN AEBEREAEHER
BERHtERREATR - ERAHREREERNARE
BRIX RMASNBBAEENEE N AREEE
BEREEBZE Ao HERRREHABOLR T
B EERBRMEASHHEIRLBITHELENRER
B PR IR = (K - B TRk B (1 B P R R R K R R
ERBINER WP TV ENRE Y HEEEMH
EEREBEZREALEDZMHARMB MIN HAE
HETERENERER RERK FEREBEUK
ANERESE TRERER  H 2RI HE R KR
HIEpe s T ARRREH G RRBOAFEER -

Geographical Distribution of Suppliers

HERNE D
The PRC HE Others Hfth
5% 1%

(60) ©)

B Hong Kong &8
B The PRC HEl

B Others Hfth

Hong Kong &
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(1,115)
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Quality Services

The core value of the Group is to provide and maintain high-
quality services to satisfy our clients with the services provided.
Toward this end, we adhere to best practice policies and
measures established with the foundation of ISO9001: 2015
Quality Management System to govern the procedures and
standards of our services. A Project Quality Plan has been
implemented that regulates the entire fitting-out work process
in the following:

Materials
Purchase

R

Quiality Record
Management
BEETHEE

Preparation for
Handover

RS

Mock-up Prior
to Installation
RHRAIER

BER®
AEENZLEBEEAREEARESEENRE &
EPHRMEHRORBERIDE - St RABRRFN
ISO9001 : 2016mBERB A REMREVNKEER
BRRER AREBRMORBETFEFE-RME
BT —EBEBEEEFE EAT TEHEEEEEIE
MIBHETT IR -

Document
Submission

MR

Sample
Submission

BARER

Construction and
Installation

BERZE
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Certain control measures are illustrated below: BT EGEEREm T
~N
e Upon arrival of the materials, the site manager/site supervisor would conduct materials
inspection.
MRIEES  THEBAS/ ThEEGETHRIRE
Materials ¢ Any materials found sub-standard or defective would be rejected and replaced with qualified
Purchased materials
MRS EATFERERBRERMEHERIER - I ASHENMRIESR y
~N
¢ All changes and modifications on any forms of documents, including letter, drawings and
technical literatures, shall be identified, documented, reviewed and approved by the project
manager before the implementation
S[L%Cnﬁg;g; HEABROLH - BEER - TREREHNOFAEEREN IR EREN AR
TR EEASRE - ik - BERILE
J
N\
e The installation procedures shall be in accordance with the approved Method Statement.
RERFRFEREN S A
: ¢ Site supervisor would bear the responsibility in ensuring the fitting out workers follow the
Construction : , ,
— approved method statement during the installation
T T FEREERREBCIATLEBRPEBEENSEHHA
BRERTE )
~N
 Inspection and testing would be conducted before the handover of the completed work to
the client. All the relevant records shall be reviewed for compliance with satisfactory result.
BB BASHGERNEFBR TR IIEZAET - IAHEBNTHEIERES  URREE
Inspection REIRES ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ% 0 . . .
y e |f there are any non-compliance or failed result, the subject parts are required to take
and Te;tl Izg corrective and preventive actions, and these items are to be re-inspected.
LRV R s rRa RS TARNER « AU ERIHRRMEREREE  WHRSAEE
TEHRE -
J

We place great emphasis not only on improving the quality of BT TEFFERIRSEEZNRLG  NIEFTERRE
our projects but also on ensuring the safety of our workers LARBEIFHERBRSENL 2 SHEBHEAARER
and the project sites where they worked. Safety inspections Sl EM T Z 2B EFEETLZERE - REZER
are conducted weekly using a site safety inspection checklist ETLAFFRAIFEMNBRME ThL 2 HA - E2FTE-H
developed by the Group. Inspection criteria include the validity —EE4E#| - R Z24 K ALBRUALEREZEN LT 2F
of workers’ permits, site safety rules, emergency plans, dust Fe

control, noise control, tripping hazards, and safe use of

electrical equipment.
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Customer-first Approach

With the commitment to providing superior services that
satisfy and even exceed the expectations of clients, Sanbase
prioritizes and values feedback from clients. During the
execution phase of the project, we communicate with clients on
their requirements on a regular basis. Upon the completion of
projects, a maintenance guide with guidance on an appliance
installation and as-built drawings of premises would be provided
to clients. Each feedback received during, as well as after, the
service process would be carefully listened to and appropriately
addressed.

Advertising and Labelling

Advertising and product labelling do not constitute material
issues to the Group due to the nature of our business and the
limited publicity for our products and services.

Privacy Protection

Our operation requires the processing of a variety of private
information of our Group and our clients. For the purpose of
protecting the rights and interests of our Group, our clients, and
other stakeholders, we handle sensitive data with due care and
are in compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
of Hong Kong and other relevant laws and regulations. Without
prior consent or approval, employees are prohibited from
disclosing any confidential information to third parties.

Given the business nature, we do not consider intellectual
property to be a material issue for our Group.
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PEOPLE-CENTRIC WORKPLACE

UABENITERR

Our goal in this area of focus contributes to the following
UNSDGs:

REDUCE
INEQUALITIES
ROTES

QUALITY

DECENT WORK AND 1
ECONOMIC GROWTH
MEEIfEn

EDUCATION
BUBE

/‘/i =

v

Goal

To provide employees with a harmonious and safe workplace,
as well as competitive and abundant benefits and welfare.

Material topics to be covered

° Talent Retention

° Occupational Safety and Health
° Training and Development

o Business Ethics and Integrity

BMEZEHAINEFREORERATHABRA
SEERAR:

BRENEERE

. AT BH

. BELZEER

. Bk ER

AEBREBIE

Sanbase values employees as the greatest asset and sees them
as an important driving force in business development. We are
committed to create a harmonious and safe workplace coupled
with a competitive and ample benefits package as a reward to
our employees. To safeguard the rights of both the Group and
our employees, we strictly abide by all applicable labour laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of
the PRC ( {(FZE AR EMBE L5 8))%) ), the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC ((hFEARLMELEHAERL) ), the Law of the
PRC on Occupational Disease Prevention and Control ( (& % A
RAFE R ZM/B585%) ) and the Regulations on Prohibition of
Child Labour ( <%t E{F A E T &) ) etc. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with labour-related laws and regulations in relation
to remunerations and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, other welfare and benefits.

HERBEARANME IHMEMARAXRHERD
EZHF N -RAMABRIRNREERIE—EANELEZH
THERR YRHAABFINEERNGFEERY
BETHmF-RMEEETHEERNBEER IR
BUREAREREENEN 8FRETRR (ERE
) - CEEMEGD) (FEREIEKRM) - (F
EARKMBEEHE) (FEARAKNBELEHAR
B (PEARKMBBRERR AL I (ELEER
BTG FEEER -RNBEHME AREARER
FEHM LR BELRET TESE - -RA TSR
g 2t RER EMGERENTEBEMAMERKR
E RS THBAZEFERWBN -
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Employee Overview EEHE
As of 31 March 2022, the Group had a total of 83 full-time #{Z202243A31H AEBHEAESIZE2HET - Nk

employees. The distribution of employees by gender, employee & Hiff1 2 2020-214F & « 145 - R B 48R - F k4R -
category, age group, geographical locations for the Reporting B BEHEE D MHIE N IA KRB X2 H il an T
Period and year 2020-21 are outlined below:

Total Workforce

EEHA
20/21 ]” ”]] 87
21/22 ”“ ”]) 83
By Gender
1R

20/21

21/22

E Male E Female
Bt kg
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By Employee Category

RESER
20/21 65
21/22 65
B Senior Management E Middle-level Management B General and Office Staff
SREERE hREERE WAEFERET
By Age Group
RERAER
20/21
21/22
E21-30 HE31-40 ®41-50 H51-60 B Atorabove 61
B15R R IA L
By Geographical Location
RiIBNE
20/21
21/22

E Hong Kong E The PRC
BB HhEl
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Below is a breakdown of the employee turnover rate by gender, A NRIEMER 1B B8R F it 48 B M i 12 [ 18] 2] 5
employee category, age group, and geographical region: " E BB R

By Gender
gkl

21/22 20/21

H Male B Female
B zi

By Employee Category

rESER
0%
21/22 20/21
B Senior Management E Middle-level Management H General and Office Staff
BREEE PEREERE WAEREERET

By Age Group

BRERKAR
100%
. 0% 0%
26% o
29% 38%
21/22 20/21

E21-30 E31-40 E41-50 ®E51-60 B Atorabove61
6158 M BA |
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By Geographical Location
RihENE

21/22 20/21

B Hong Kong B The PRC
0 HE

Note: The employee turnover rate is calculated based on the total AfiF: B ITRARNIRBEREHKREHNE TAHFTE-

workforce at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Talent Acquisition

Sanbase is dedicates to becoming an ideal employer. With this
goal, our Group adheres to the principles of equal opportunity,
anti-discrimination, and diversity during recruitment,
remuneration determination, promotions, training, and all
other labour-related procedures. Talents are recruited through
online platforms whenever there is an internal need. Selection
is solely based on the candidates’ ability and experience,
without regard to their age, gender, race, family status, religion,
sexual orientation, or disability. Throughout the recruitment
process, we strictly comply with the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance of Hong Kong. To provide a fair and inclusive
workplace, an equal opportunity policy has been implemented.
Employees are encouraged to report any discriminatory,
offensive or humiliating behaviours to their department head,
associate director, or director. The Group will take every report
seriously and investigate promptly.

The Group offers a multitude of benefits and welfare programs
to retain and attract talented employees. Employees are
provided with basic salary, mandatory provident fund for
employees in Hong Kong and social insurance and housing
provident fund for employees in the PRC. In addition, we also
offer our employees with:

Leave
BRER

Public and statutory holidays
ARKEEMRA

=

Medical allowance

BR2A

Annual leave

FR

Sick leave
1R

Birthday leave

£ AR EHORRG

Maternity and patemity leave
ERRESEER

Compassionate leave
BAmfR
HNEBEE I BB
Study and examination leave
BENEHR
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Allowance

Business travel allowance

External training sponsorship

AT HRE

HERNIRKAERNRERE RERE—BFE A%
EXBE EEFHFM S BIARMAEMESS
HENEFTFHBRREEYE REAERZTERA-
EANEHRERRE RMASBAEEFEHEBAL -
BENE—KEBEDRREREANENRER TZEE
EFER - MR Bk REAR R MREHEE -
REERBBRES RABBETELE (ERBEE K
) ~ CERREREMN) (REBMEREH) & (&
RERGD)  -REH-—ELXFREBTNIESM &
MEERE—AFERERR - RMEE THHP
TE BAERAESERETERE SIREREE
MENTR AEESREHFE —NHE LARE
THRE-

AEERFEZERMEENTE RRELESIES
ET-ZMAREIRHKERNTIE REEEIRMR
HERES STESTRHEEERBEEFEATEE -
tEN - IR B THREA TR :

Other benefits
H g F|

Discretionary year-end
bonus
FRIEAL

Medical insurance

Business travel insurance
Z=hRARER
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Our employees are respected and their rights are protected.
Hence, the staff handbook and human resources policies
have clearly defined terms such as remuneration, rest
periods, working hours, and termination and dismissal
procedures. When an employee resigns, we encourage the
team leader/department head to speak with that employee to
understand the reasons for the resignation.

Toward building a people-centric work environment, a variety
of employee activities would be arranged from time to time to
encourage our employees to strike a balance between work
and life. A few examples include annual dinner, physical training
program, mid-autumn festival dinner, boat trip, and Christmas
party. Unfortunately, we have to put these activities on hold
during the Reporting Period in order to protect our employees’
safety and health because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Upon
alleviation of the pandemic, we will resume our planning of such
activities. Despite this, we remain committed to enhancing the
sense of belonging of our employees. During the Chinese Lunar
New Year and the Mid-Autumn Festival, we presented gifts to
our employees.

BMMBIRINEERBEREMNZIRE-BL 8B
TFMEANERBRF AR EFHN KRR
THEREARKLENEREFSFHEX -EFE TEHBR
B RMSBEGEE HHAEEAEZETETR
R TREBERRRA-

BEY—HAUAABRANIERE RMEFARTHS
BEI RS UEHBEIAETHEREEZHREF
B-REFERE BEIREE FHUBE M0
RERGESEETHT BEROR REEHR AR
COVID-19Z B & KM ST EFILEEE X
RERMEENZT2RBE - REBEMNE HME
MEMEEFSNTE - EE WL BRPDARAR IR E
BETIMEBR -RNPEEEHNFE LT EHE &K
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Occupational Health and Safety

Considering the health and safety of our employees as a
top priority, the Group attaches great importance to defining
and implementing comprehensive and effective occupational
health and safety programs. We adhere to relevant laws
and regulations, including the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Law of the PRC
on Occupational Disease Prevention and Control ( (/& #
ARKMBEBERNAZE) ). We also obtained 1SO45001:
2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management System
certificate (provision of renovation and fitting out works), which
specifies the requirements for occupational health and safety
management system, and provides guidance in achieving a safe
and healthy workplace.

Construction site safety is of primary concern to us. The Group
complies with relevant laws and regulations, including but not
limited to Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance
(Section 6A & 6B), Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations,
Factories and Industries Undertakings (Dangerous Substance)
Regulations of Hong Kong. The safety and health policy has
also been established to achieve a safe and healthy working
environment at all project sites and target to eliminate incidents.

In order to formulate a routine for assessing, monitoring and
minimizing occupational health and safety risks, the health
and safety plan has been implemented. The plan provides
detailed information regarding different aspects, such as the
responsibilities of individuals working with a safety organization,
the health and safety training, the personal protection program,
incident investigation, and emergency preparedness.
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Safety control we have implemented on site includes:

Safety Organisation

° Establish a site safety committee for the purpose of site
safety, health and welfare monitoring

Safety and Health Training

o All workers working on the site are required to be the
holder of a valid Construction Industry Mandatory Basic
Safety Training Certificate (“MBSTC”) and construction
workers registered cards

° Provide site health and safety training which includes
the safety induction training, toolbox talk, and specific
health and safety training

In-house Safety Rules and Regulations

° Workers from the site who repeatedly infringe the
safety requirements will be suspended from work until
rectification is made

° Visitors are provided with safety helmets, and are
accompanied by a supervisory staff

Inspection Programme

° Carry out site safety inspections in a regular manner
by the safety supervisor to identify defects, unsafe
conditions and practices, and any breaches of safety
plan requirements

° Ensure the personal protective equipment is being
complied with the relevant approval standard with
sufficient quantity

Incident Investigation

° Every accident shall be reported. For serious accidents
reported, construction work shall be ceased until
investigation work has been carried out

Emergency Plan

° Establish an emergency response team at the site
o Conduct regular emergency drills for emergency
preparedness
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any R IREER - AL B ETME TEEKRIBLRRE
lost days due to work injury. Also, there were no work-related 8-t RIBE=F (BEAREH) PR B4
fatalities in the past three years (including the Reporting Period). EET{EGRBEMILT- EM -

Number and rate
of work-related
fatalities in the past
three years
RiBE=FE T {EA5RE

HIZECEHHE
Lost days due BL=

to work injury
AIEBANRE
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Combating COVID-19

In light of the spread of COVID-19, we are committed to
ensuring the health and safety of all workers and strive to
minimize the risk of virus spread at work. Hence, we closely
follow government directives and provide relevant information to
our employees on an ongoing basis.

Our workplaces and construction sites are taking the following
preventive measures to prevent pandemics:

Flexible working hours and work rotation arrangements for
workplaces

Employees are required to measure body temperature
before entering our workplaces or project sites. Employees
with fever and probable symptoms are prohibited from
entering

Employees are required to fill in a travel and health
declaration form before entering our workplaces or project
sites. Anyone who failed to fulfil the criteria would be

declined to work

Require all employees and workers in project sites to wear
masks during the working hours

Provide employees with alcohol-based hand sanitizer and
other disinfectant supplies

Attach safety pre-cautionary notice at the workplaces and
project sites

Conduct routine cleaning at the workplaces and project sites

Ensure adequate ventilation at the site area

LB COoVID-19
ERCOVID- 190 B KM NERME B TR
BEEhkze YTREHRSETFFERENRRREER
KoBi ZAZNETRAES UHEREMNE
ERHARER -

B M5 LR35 R R 5 T30 4RI T IR 4 B )
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BR-BARARRUERNEE TEEA LIS
Ffr
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Talent Development

The Group strongly believes that talent development is an
essential component of sustainable growth. To achieve
excellence, we nurture our employees with sufficient training
and promotional opportunities to prepare them for their future
careers. To meet this goal, we have devised comprehensive
promotion and training mechanism to provide employees with
ample resources for training and development.

Apart from orientation for new employees, we develop our
employees’ professional skills and knowledge on a regular
basis through internal training. For project site workers, there
were a variety of training sessions, including induction training,
fire prevention and fire escape instruction, housekeeping rules,
protection against falling objects, inspections before and after
work, electricity safety, and safe use of hand-held power tools.

The percentage of employees trained and the average training
hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category during the Reporting Period and the year 2020-21 are
outlined as below:

AT EBR
AEEREATERRAFSERENEEZAXIT D
REREH HMAEERHEARNBINRETH#E
REPIRRNBEELEMFER RERE—BE
BAGETZTENEARBIRS SEERHTE
MIFII R EREIR

Bk % /B B A B IE 351 ﬁﬁﬁiiﬂﬂﬁi@ﬁqﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂliﬁﬁﬁ

EMEXRREIAB - -RMTARERBEETIRER
EOIFIRE BRAREI A RRERE KRR
TR BEEY  TEMRRE RERERZE2ER
FRAEHILA-

RS B % 2020-215F 12 1 5l M (B B 1R B &l 0 W X3

BEBADLEEREETKZ I FHRBB AT

% of Employees Trained by Gender
rEpESNZIREETD
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% of Employees Trained by Employee Category
RESEREINZIREE L

—— % 6%
| =z | 12%
21/22 20/21
B Senior Management B Middle-level Management B General and Office Staff
BREERE hREERE —REMRRAERE

Average Training Hours by Gender

BRI 82 BT3B T B B

20/21

21/22

= Male B Female
B Zi

Average Training Hours by Employee Category
RESERE D T HEINRE

20721

E—
21/22 £5 0.55

B Senior Management B Middle-level Management = General and Technical Employees
BREERE PREERE —RERAEHE

Note: The calculation is based on the number of employees trained i#: &7 BEBMRBAEERZANFINER ZAEH

during the Reporting Period, including such employees having left FERUABREHAZIEB A AER BERHRS H
the Group during or subsequent to the Reporting Period, for a Mk HEERAEERBNZEE L -

more accurate reflection of the training resources invested by the

Group.
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To create a rewarding workplace, the Group arranges
performance appraisals each year to evaluate employees’ work
performance and set references for probation, promotion and
salary adjustment. Evaluation criteria include job knowledge,
technical skills, quality and quantity of work, interpersonal
skills, initiative or judgment, adaptability, organization of work,
teamwork and attendance.

Labour Standards

Child or forced labour is strictly prohibited throughout the entire
recruitment process. In order to prevent the occurrence of child
labour, Sanbase verifies the personal identification document
of candidates at the time of recruitment to ensure they have
met the legal working age. In addition, the employment
contract and other human resources policies have made
a clear illustration in terms of working hours, rest periods,
remuneration, employment termination and other employment
terms, as to avoid forced labour. The Group strictly abides by
the requirements of standardized labour contracts and does not
tolerate any forms of an unfair employment relationship. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any child or
forced labour within the Group. In the event that child labour or
forced labour is discovered, the Group will strictly follow the law
and regulations to eliminate such practices.

88 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REAE-—BAERBRNTHESH AEESFRHEN
AR EM TERE  WIEARR B M H
M2E-FHEERETIEME - BN TEmE
MBE ABRXERED MR HG L ERME T
tEAM B A ERLEE-

BIEE

EEREBEBES RMERE L EAEIREG S
T-AMBETRSNEE HEAHREREXER
BENEASHEG BREFEINETETIEFEK-
N BMETELEER REMANEIRBE S A #
MET IERHE KRERME R KRIEEBREME
BB BeEERf S AEEEREETEHE
BEXK BTARZEAEANTRFLEEER DB
HHE AKEETENBAEBRNE EME LT K4
BE)ERN e —BEIME Tokog 5 T ANEREES
BPEBER HMBHETR-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R #E8RkER/MSE

Business Ethics and Integrity

To uphold business ethics and integrity, the Group will not
tolerate any forms of corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud,
money laundering or any other forms of illegal or unethical
behaviors. We adhere strictly to all applicable relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201), the Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance of Hong Kong
(Cap. 615), the Criminal Law of the PRC ( {F % A E A1 E i
7£) ), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ( {(FFZ#E AR
HAMBE & %85%) ), and the Anti-Corruption Law of the PRC
((REARANMEREBIE) ).

Integrity is a core element of our business, and our Group has
a sound internal control system that ensures employees at
every level operate in accordance with business ethics. As part
of this effort, we have established the code of ethics policy and
requested employees adhere to the requirements in place to
avoid any actions that breach applicable laws and regulations
or violate business ethics and integrity, such as bribery and
pay-offs.

Employees are encouraged to report to their managers or other
appropriate personnel when there are any suspected unethical
behaviors. Upon receiving reports of such cases, investigations
would be conducted as promptly as possible to safeguard the
interests of the Group and its stakeholders.

As part of our efforts to raise employee awareness of anti-
corruption at work, we provided anti-corruption training to the
Board and employees during the Reporting Period. The training
materials emphasize the importance of embedding integrity
in the workplace, provide guidance on adhering to business
ethics, and present industry-specific examples to increase
employees’ understanding of anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any material
non-compliance concerning corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud
and money laundering nor concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

RIRRE

UNSDGs:

13 CLIMATE
ACTION

REETTE

4

Goal

the ecosystem and the surrounding environment.

Material topics to be covered

o Climate Change
° Use of Resources
° Green Fitting-out Services

Our goal in this area of focus contributes to the following T 195 243 T L 4818 0 B 12 8 LA T B & B A 3 48 2%

REBIELOER:

BE

To prioritize environmental protection and not to compromise EIRBREREELN  TEELRERHKME LIRS -

HRENEEERE

. REZM

. BIRE A

. RERERY

Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group upholds the
objective of providing excellent services without compromising
the environment. Throughout our daily operations, we work to

ER—BRAEENEEAR ASEERFREHELR
BETHEERENRE EBEATEL S RMK
ARER ZERERMNEEHRFENNEAASY

monitor, and minimize the negative impacts of our operations % ° A& [E D& F1SO14001: 20153 F E IR BE R RE -
on the environment. The Group has obtained ISO14001: 2015 HFEREBEEEBETERFABEKREE - ZMMEH TERIER
Environmental Management System certification in order to RERZE HIERATHE:
align our environmental management efforts with international
standards. We have also formulated the environmental

protection policy, highlighting the following areas:

Compliance
in laws
and regulations
HEEEER

Regular review
on objectives
EHEEER
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Minimize negative
impacts of
our work
EERERMHIE
ERNEHTE

Mitigation of
environmental
pollution
RIBS AR EETE
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material breach of environmental laws and regulations, including
but not limited to:

o Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)

° Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation (Cap.
311R)

° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354)

° Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulations
(Cap. 3540)

° Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400)
° Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499)
° Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance (Cap. 610)

. Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ( (A ZE AR &
MERIBIREE) )

Climate Change

Climate change has become a global issue of utmost
importance. The rising temperatures and deteriorating weather
patterns have a direct impact on business operations, as well
as increasing public demand for a net-zero emissions economy.
The Group conducted an ESG risk assessment to identify
potential climate risks that pose threats to our business.
Furthermore, we regularly evaluate the effectiveness of existing
mitigation measures and possible areas of improvement, further
strengthening our business resilience towards climate change.

Facilities, equipment, and the physical environment of properties
may be vulnerable to extreme weather events such as
typhoons and flooding, leading to damage that requires repair
and maintenance, which results in an increase in operating
expenses. The extreme weather events also lead to the halt
of the work, leading to a possible delay in the completion
schedule. As such, the Group adopts precautionary measures
and provides guidance for employees to work under extreme
weather.

EREHB AEBERERBRIMNEEERRELR
MERWNT A BEETER:
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Regarding the transition risk, the Group expects that there will
be more stringent climate-related legislation and regulations.
Therefore, we regularly review our policies and measures to
ensure that we stay up to date with the latest government
policies, regulatory updates and industry standards.

With our objective to provide excellent services without
compromising the environment, we strive to minimize our
impacts on the environment by reducing carbon emissions and
improving energy efficiency. During the Reporting Period, the
Group set the below environmental targets:

Air and GHG Emissions
EERAE = R EEHEN

daily operations

Energy

BER 798 T 3 5 B 4 B0 0 B
.

{y

Water

S $2.(2 65 4 F 7k BA IR 7 AR 2K 2

)

Energy, Air and GHG Emissions

For the daily operations of the Group, air, greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions and energy consumption are mainly derived
from electricity purchased for office use and fuel consumption
for vehicles. As a responsible corporate, we are committed to
minimizing carbon emissions and achieving energy conservation
by advocating energy-saving measures and enhancing energy
efficiency. Our building office utilizes LED lighting, which
eliminates the need for traditional fluorescent tubes. The
temperature of air conditioning is set within 24 to 26 degrees
to optimise the use of electricity. Additionally, employees are
required to turn off all unnecessary devices while leaving the
office to save the use of electricity. With these measures, the
Group seeks to reduce energy consumption by improving
energy efficiency in the future.
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To reduce both air emissions and GHG emissions by improving energy efficiency in

EAFEETRBRERITERBEMDERENEEERBEEN

To reduce waste consumption through reduction, reuse and recycling

BB BARERBERIBEEDES

To conserve energy by implementing energy saving measures

Advocate water conservation to enhance water efficiency
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Below outlines the energy consumption, air and GHG emissions | S alt 70 ¥R &5 BAR 2 2020-21 F E M RERERE - BE R
data during the Reporting Period and the year 2020-21: BERBHEREIE:

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

BRENER ((HRENER])

2021-22 2020-21 Unit %
2021-22 & 2020-215 & B %

Air Emissions BRER
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) A&y (NOx) 687" 1,979 g 91.1%
Sulfur oxides (SOx) &L ((SOx) 161 46 g% 2.1%
Particular matter (PM) BZERN (PM) 51 146 g 6.8%
Total @t 754 2,171 9% 100.0%
GHG Emissions BERBHER
Scope 1 (Direct emissions)? HEN(ERFER)? Tonnes COe

2.90 835 AM_&{riEs 3.6%

Scope 2 (Indirect emissions)? EE2( f B )2 Tonnes CO,e
71.89 8248 AM—EIREE 90.9%

Scope 3 (Other indirect HES(H A EEHER) Tonnes CO,e
emissions)® 4.33 6.21 RE-A{iHREE 5.5%

Tonnes CO.e
Total Bt 79.12 97.04 RS/ HEE 100%

Tonnes CO.e/

revenue in

million

/‘\ @E

—&aft ﬁ?;?;;
Intensity wE 0.19 0.20 BEU& -
Energy Consumption B IR H

Purchased electricity INEE S 104,827 102,010 kWh F FL B 91.4%
Unleaded petrol E:3 SR 9,922 28,590 kWh F B 8.6%
Total A&t 114,749 130,600 kWh T B E 100%

kWh/revenue

in million
Intensity B 271.76 27135 THE/BEENF =

MR E2021F 1 AR EERER BERENERNR
OB KIREN E—F-

U Since the vehicle hasn’t been used since November 2021, air '
emissions and fuel consumption are significantly lower than they
were in the year prior.

REHRUHEEZXR IFESSMERERWITATR
FHCRERES TS CESHMBMEZE (BT
) D - %EI1ET;<?‘3FE5(X§$§%T?’Eﬁﬁﬂ?%”ﬁ’\]%i%'
i &8 B 2R B HE AR RISk B A S B N E6E A BB B SRS
NEN B AR REAMNES-

s In accordance with The Greenhouse Gas Protocol — A Corporate 2
Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition) published
by World Business Council for Sustainable Development and
World Resources Institute, Scope 1 direct emissions are resulted
from operations that are owned or controlled by the Group, while
Scope 2 indirect emissions are resulted from the generation of
purchased or acquired electricity, heating, cooling and steam
consumed within the Group.

HENEEERARERE -

e Scope 3 emissions included paper waste disposal. e

+
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Waste Emissions REE YD HE R

The Group’s waste emissions mainly originate from general AEBEMEEVHMEIERE —MPAZTHF-HP
office refuse. Due to our business nature, we are not aware of HKFIMERELD RV EBRREEEEYNELS M
the generation of hazardous waste and do not use packaging 7 #E{F Ak B -

for finished products.

Sanbase promotes green office practices and strives to reduce HEEBEARIEEZOR M E NFEBRIE =
waste consumption through reduction, reuse and recycling. As A ERBRBERLVEEVEL - EAET BT &
a major focus, we aim to reduce 10% of paper waste in the R BEHBEEMES FXUHMIERBTEDNHEER
future by encouraging employees to read electronic documents KRR 10% FEEE 4R -

instead of hard copies.

Below outlines the waste emission data during the Reporting T SCHE it 7 ¥ 45 HA R }2.2020-214F [ #) & 2 ) HE iR &

Period and year 2020-21: e
2021-22 2020-21 Unit %
2021-22F & 2020-21F & By %
Other general refuse Hth— s R 1.09 1.14 Tonnes I 100%
Total At 1.09 1.14 Tonnes I 100%
Kg/revenue
in million
Intensity RE 2.64 237 FTR/BEWH -
Water Consumption FEKE

For daily consumption by the Group, water is supplied by local FAEBFRFEKEMS  KEHE KA 24
water companies. During the Reporting Period, we did not R ¥R&EHIR - AN & B 72 Sk EUE A ORI 28 )T [
experience any issues in water sourcing. However, the water B - ARKEMMPAZTHHKEHDEETE R RIESH
consumption data of the Group is not available since the water HEEXA@ERHEFIRHERBEKEHRE AL KER
supply of our offices is controlled by property management, KA /KEEIEIL TEA -

who cannot provide water consumption data to tenants

individually.

We understand that water supply is a valuable resource. Hence, #HIBBAKERZTEMNE R - ALtk R FIIRE S KIE

we advocate water conservation as a means of enhancing ARFAKUFH—FETN -
water efficiency.
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Green Fitting-out Services

The Group does not identify material impacts we impose on
the environment and natural resources due to our nature of
business. Yet, we put great emphasis on monitoring our fitting-
out services for pollution and other environmental impacts. A
health and safety plan is in place to govern the work conducted
on the work sites. In particular, it sets guidelines for controlling
air pollution, managing noise, and handling waste.

Air Pollution Control °

Cover dusty materials,

BREeRERE
AKELBHAFERBEMERERNERTE - AW -
BPFEREREERMANKEREES ﬁ&ﬁ%&ﬁ
MREFE - RFCHETLEERLE2ERERE
THRSHETHIE-HH2 ERETEHNZ=RS
R ERBREREEBEEMNIES -

including excavated materials, building debris and

7 R05 A A

Noise Management
BEEIE

Waste Management

BEEYE R

construction materials, properly by tarpaulin or other approved means
RAiAhms EMmEEN T A BEREME BEEEME BERR LE
£ R

Perform frequent maintenance on all combustion engines to prevent exhaust
generated air pollution

YA N EITIEE B B IEEREK =R )T 2

Post the safety labels showing the need for wearing dust respirators

KL E2RE RXATMAMHECDSE

Perform noise survey when sound pressure level exceeds 85 dB(A)

BB ARG 85db(A) BEITREAE

Display safety sign in the hearing protection zone and attach warning label to
noisy machines

EENGRERRETLE2EH WEBMENKES FRULTESE

Require subcontractors to select low noise equipment and provide ear
protectors to their director employees

ERRAHAHEERRERBLAETEESRHERTS

Plan for the location, transportation method, facilities needs for temporary
storage of waste

REBEEME TR BRI REFX

Formulate schedules for the collection and disposal of waste
a3 /E € AL S ES

Ensure the proper functioning of the waste collection system and disposal
system by carrying out curtail check
BBETHERREEREZRVUREZRRREE RSN ERET

Assign responsible staff for collection, transportation and monitoring of the
temporary waste storage sites

BEREEABBEWE ERKEEEEVEFiit R

As a means to ensure the proper and effective execution of the
health and safety plan and measures noted above, the Group
set up a site environmental inspection checklist to monitor their
implementation. Verification areas include waste management,
water conversation, noise, air, energy conversation and the
storage and control of the use of chemicals. Inspection is
conducted regularly in order to monitor environmental impacts
imposed during the provision of fitting-out services.

tER— @ﬁﬁ”*lﬁﬂ%ﬁti%pmhﬁﬂ
el R e F B $%l%m1m%%$ BE
NEBHER REFHBHEERMERE %%*
B EER S ﬁ&kg%ﬁfﬁ¥ﬂ@% AT
EMRE NEAERERERBHIURRELNT
@,

+
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

HERE

Our goal in this area of focus contributes to the following
UNSDGs:

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE
R - fIHR

=

Goal

To embrace corporate social responsibility by giving back to the
community and building a better society for our next generation.

Material topics to be covered

° Participation in Community Activities

BMELEHAENEFREORERATHABRA
FEZRER:

BE

AEECEHEEM CRME
—fEE XTI E -

RRMHT 2R

BRENEERE

. SEMETRE

As a socially responsible enterprise in the industry and as
a listed company, the Group is dedicated to shouldering
corporate social responsibility in making positive contributions
to the community and creating a better society for the next
generations. Our commitment to this goal includes providing
stable and adequate resources for community activities each
year, and we encourage all our employees to participate in such
activities.

Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, we continue to motivate our
employees to have a positive influence on the community and
protect the environment which is the focus area of the Group in
community investment.

Donate to Yan Chai Hospital

To support Yan Chai Hospital’s charity work and positively
influence the community during the Reporting Period, the
Group made a general donation of HKD42,000 to it. In addition,
the Group sponsors the “Yan Chai Charity RC Model Car Grand
Prix” an event organised by Yan Chai Hospital with HKD20,000
to provide help and care for the underage children, which
the parents are newly admitted inmates who are serving their
sentence in Hong Kong.

Participate in Dress Casual Day

Throughout the Reporting Period, despite of the threat of
COVID-19, the Group has encouraged employees to participate
in Dress Casual Day organized by the Community Chest
to improve community wellness. On 28 October 2021, our
employees actively participated in the event to raise funds.
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Support Earth Hour

Earth Hour is an annual event organized by the World
Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) to raise awareness around
environmental protection and help reduce energy consumption.

As part of this initiative, the Group turned off the lights at
its office for an hour on 26 March 2022, and committed to
encouraging employees to start fresh, change habit, and
contribute to a sustainable future for the next generations.

R ER — B
WR—IERHERABERESE (WWF) BEHRNFE
AE - BHEES AMIMNIREREB AT ERIERE -

EREBEFEN—BD  NEBR2022F3H26H #
HPEAZEE— /B TRAOANRTEE TR
HEBE AT ANUBELRIELEE -

+
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX RIE-HERERRERSIERS
Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TESER - EH —REERBREANEE BREREEZ] =41 B
A. Environmental
ABE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA HERY
General Disclosure
— MR
Information on: Environmental P. 90
(@) the policies; and Protection

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FHBERIRERBHEN RKLTHBET AEREZSEEVHNELESY : RERE %908

(@) MK X

b) EBFTHBTAGEAZENEBZZRANNELR -

KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Energy, Air and P. 92
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

RSB BIRIRAT BERE R MR HE R EUE - R BERERERE 928
HER

KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions and  Energy, Air and P. 93

intensity. Greenhouse Gas

Emissions

BREMIERAI2 BEELEREEAERBEREREE - R BERNMRERE %938
HE

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. The Group does not N/A
generate material
hazardous waste

MREBIERAMS MELEEERENHEERTE - REBEVTEELEEAN @ B
BEERBREY

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. Waste Emissions P. 94

BRENUEEAM L MESBREREYEERTE - BEEMHER F94H

KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to Energy, Air and P. 92

achieve them. Greenhouse Gas

Emissions

FREMIERAIL HAMIT VNN EERRAEIELARMEDNTIE . R BRIORERE 928
B

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes  Waste Emissions P. 94

are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

BREMIERA1G HIREBEEERBEEEMN X RIEMAFISIORE BEEYHENR F948
EERAEINELAEMERN TR
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number

FTEER BEH —REBEKRBERERESR BREMIEE] -] HH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure

—RIRE
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw Environmental P. 90
materials. Protection

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

BRERER (BREER KREAMERERME) BBUER RIGRE 908
HOBERUBRAEE #7F B BT EFREF-
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total Energy, Air and P. 93
and intensity. Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
BREBEIZEA2 BERESNEER KEEERAEEREE R ERMAERE %938
e
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water Consumption P. 94
BREBIRIZA22 BREKERRE- FEKE F94H
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Energy, Air and p. 92
taken to achieve them. Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
FREMIERA23 HAFMTVHNEREANZERERRBEINELEFEMEN SR BERLOAERE F928
2 B o e
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Water Consumption P. 94

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) and steps
taken to achieve them.

BRERIERA2.4 HMCSKBGER /KR ERAIBERME  ARAETZE AR  FKE 948
HERRREINELAFEMERRAN T

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and The operation of N/A
with reference to per unit produced. the Group did not

involved in any
packaging material.

BBEMIEIRA2S HmAAEEMHANEERBLEEEUGE- AEELEYEY i R
FAE B R L -

+
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER - EH —REERERANEE BREREEZ] 4] B
Aspect A3: Environmental and Natural Resources
EFEEHAS  RERXRARER
General Disclosure
— AR B 5R
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and Green Fitting-out P. 95
natural resources. Services
BEBITAHRERARERENERTENOBE - HERERE %958
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Green Fitting-out P. 95
environment and natural resources and the actions taken  Services
to manage them.
FREMIBERAS HAEBIHEHRERRABERNEAZERDENERE KERERK 958
AT ENTTE -
Aspect A4: Climate Change
EBEAL: RIEEL
General Disclosure
— AR 58
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues Climate Change P. 91
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BANEEHERERAREEHETAEETZENEARGEFETENBER - RARE b %918
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which ~ Climate Change P. 91
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.
FREMIEZEA4 HARKRAEGUHETAEEZENEARGEEEE X REE\L FO1H

K EH1TE -
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEHR EEH —REERHARENEE BRENEE] =41 B
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
BRI EH
Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1:EE
General Disclosure
— R B ER
Information on: People-centric P. 75
(@) the policies; and Workplace

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

EAFMEEE BEREF TESE BRE FTEHE 2o REBUAR RABTHIHERE F758

H 58 REHE

(@ MK X

() BETHBTAGEATENHEBRZZRAMNNELR -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employee Overview P. 76
and geographical region.

BREMIEEBI RUR  EEELR FRANRMEE S NEBE L - EEWME F76H

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employee Overview P. 78
geographical region.

BRERIEEBI.2 RR FRANRERESNESRALE . EEWME $78H
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER - EH —REERERANEE BREREEZ] 4] B
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2 REHEZZ
General Disclosure
— AR B 5R
Information on: Occupational Health P. 82
(@) the policies; and and Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
FAREZ2TIEREIREBEEREBELESHN: BEREREZTS £82H
(a HE: X
(b) BTUHBTABEAZENHEBERZRRNNER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each Occupational Health P. 84
of the past three years including the reporting year. and Safety
FREMIEEB21 BE=F (BEBEFE)EFEAIFRAEMETHOARLE BRXERELS 848
P o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health P. 84
and Safety
MREMEEB22 AIBBEAIERR- BxrEmEL F84H
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Occupational Health p. 82
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. and Safety
RASRAERIEIRB2.3 MMM BERFEER2EE ARBBRNTRESR BEREEZSE £828H
JiE e
Aspect B3: Development and Training
EEB3 : #&E K&
General Disclosure
—RIKE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties  Talent Development P. 86
at work. Description of training activities.
ERARARERIT LEBRENMB RREEHEE - HIFIES - AT ER $86H
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Talent Development P. 86
employee category.
BRENIEREB31 RURIREERAESHXIEEBDL - AT BE #8868
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Talent Development p. 87
gender and employee category.
BRENIEEB32 RUFIREERFE S BEEETAXINNFHIRFE - ATEE E87H
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number

TEHR EEH —REERHARENEE BRENEE] =41 B

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EEB4 : & ITEE

General Disclosure

— R ER

Information on: Labour Standards P. 88

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

EEMIEETRESEITH: BIERE %888

(a) IBZ% P &

(o) SFHETABEATZENHBEEERRAOIENER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices Labour Standards P. 88
to avoid child and forced labour.

BRENIERBL HRABRERENNEEABREET REHIST - BIRE £88H

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Labour Standards P. 88
when discovered.

FRENIEREBL2 HAEZRBRRBEARBERABBRMKIK TR - BIIRE $88H

Operating Practices

EEESH

Aspect B5 : Supply Chain Management

[EEBS5: ftEEEE

General Disclosure

— AR B 5B

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Excellent Partnership p. 70

ERHEENRE R ERREBE- BEAIERH E708H

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Excellent Partnership P. 71

FREMIEIEBS.1 KRB DHHEERHEKE - BESIERH F71H

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Excellent Partnership P. 70
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.

BRENIEEBS2 M AHERHEEENENN MERNTEHEENMHER EEaERHY E708
HE URAEBAINBMITRERA A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Excellent Partnership P. 70
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

FREMIEEBS.S MM AEBNHERSEARGNIRERCGRBRNED - BESERH E708
ARAEERTRER A

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally  Excellent Partnership P. 70
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREMIEIEBS4 HMEREHEAREEZARRERRBRBENEN A EESERHE E708

KRBT RERITA

+
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER - EH —REERERANEE BREREEZ] =41 B
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure
— AR B 5R
Information on: Operational P. 69
(@) the policies; and Excellence
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.
EAMRHEMNBRENREREREZY BS SEAMEBEFEURBRGEN: SHEE 698
(a HE: X
() BFHBTABEAZENHBZEERRANNER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Given the business N/A
recalls for safety and health reasons. nature, it is not
applicable to the
Group
BRENIEEB61 EEXCEEXEMBRTAR2ERREAMARNKNE ERXEKLE HAE @ B
D e B 53 A
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints There were no N/A
received and how they are dealt with. complaints received
during the Reporting
Period
AN IEIEB6.2 HEMNEmMRBORFEHEAREH A RSB - I & UE A58 A
EREESE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Given the business N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. nature, we do not
consider intellectual
property to be a
material issue to the
Group
FRENIEIEB6.3 HlBEERERRENBRERE@ENED - ERERMIEE KM A58 A
TR F B EE M B R
SEEXREH
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Quality Services P72
procedures.
RIS NIEIRB6.4 Ml EEREBEREREIWER - BE R ET728H
KPI B6.5 Description of customer data protection and privacy Privacy Protection P. 74
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
FREMIEIEB6.5 HEBEEMRERLEBEE  URBENTRERT L LERE F748
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Subject Areas, aspects, general disclosure and key performance

indicators (“KPIs”) Section Page Number
TEER - EH —REERERANEE BREREEZ] 4] B
Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— B ER
Information on: Business Ethics and P. 89
(@) the policies; and Integrity

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B ILBRE BR BEFREEREN: BEEBEERHAE 6898

() HE: K

(b) BIFHBTABEAZENHBEERRAINER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Business Ethics and P. 89
practices brought against the issuer or its employees Integrity
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

FREMIEEBT1 RBEHAHBTAXEEERETEELANETHAR BEEBKHAE 898
HEOE B RFRER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Business Ethics and P. 89
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Integrity

BRERIERB7.2 W SE R EBEREF ARBERITRER A BEEBEERHRE 898

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Business Ethics and P. 89
and staff. Integrity

BREMIERBT.S HilMEE RESRTRORESHEI- BEEEBEERHAE 898

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHEB8 :#EBIRE

General Disclosure

— PR ER

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community P. 96

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into Investment

consideration the communities’ interests.

BN E2ERTREENEHEFENBREAEBIDHGEELRIAGN HERRE F968

BK -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community P. 96

Investment
BB ERIEIZB8.1 BT EREE - HERE %968
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community P. 96
Investment
BRENIEEBs2 EHEIHEMBAER HEREE %968

+
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B M % BAD ¥R

_E
pwec

To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sanbase Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 118 to 203, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2022;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting polices and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

° Recognition of contract revenue

° Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade and
retention receivables

RENER

BMEREFESAMAGRMHEN (FEERZER)
(T KERERER) DETEZ - BAEXZSELT
AEMNBEECEARE [RBMAEREAPHERE
AEEMRME] B R EE— -

BAAGE RMAMESHNERBRERRENEE LA
BN EZ T RREER-

Byt

REZELEAMASGRMHN (BXGHEABRTAD
(ATEEIFA) BMABLIY EXE YCET
SRIFHEMEREER T

BAREFLEE
ARBEZFEERBRMANIXAE RSHNAH
MEGEMBREANBELEREENETR - ELERR
ERMNECERGAVBBRREAB AR RHETRE
H-BM T EeHELEREHEFNER -

ERMERTRENEREZTHALENT

s BAAREMEREEHAABRENEREEN
BERA

e MWRAEHWA

s AHEBENRESRRESEERRENG
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Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

BARBEHEBESBS ABENESREENMGE

Refer to notes 2.9, 4.1(i) and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FRAMGAMBHRRMF2.9 B sE4.1() RHE16 o

The Group has an investment in an unlisted private fund
with an underlying residential project (the “Project”) located
in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”). The Group accounted
for this investment as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss and it was classified under Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.
EEEREN—EARAUNRBENEEEETEE ([HE])
MAEREES ((REERES]) BESENRARER
ERHEEHFABRNSREEAR ZREFAALRARE
BEERE=EHK-

The Project accounted for substantially all of the Cambodia
Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value. Accordingly,
the Cambodia Fund was stated at fair value with reference
to its net asset value of approximately HKD14.6 million,
representing 5.1% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 March 2022.
BEERERERFEENRBRARBOTARABEAK-H
It R202243A31E R RE IR ARLEHEEFED
ARBEN46BEET (h EXEEEES1% -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
included:

B EERE AR B EEEEH T A ABENEREE
MR ENEZEFBHE:

e  Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the fair value estimation;

s BBEEEMHATHEEUEMRBEMEMEISN QR
BEfFGTOEARR FET7TERERNERRR:

° Interviewed the Cambodia Fund’s administrator in
relation to the status of the Project to corroborate
with management’s representation;

e FJRMTRHEZESHNITHERFHABERNEENFE
EEBEEMEHR:

e Circulated confirmation to the Cambodia Fund’s
administrator for the Group’s ownership and
the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund as
at 31 December 2021 and cross checked the
relevant information with the Cambodia Fund’s
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021;

e MRBHEESHITHEBRZEITTHER UHER EE
EAE2021F12ABTEH M BN RBEEESHNEE
FE URMRERESE EZB E2021F12H31
HIEFEMMBEREETR XY
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Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

We focused on this area because the Cambodia Fund was
valued based on a model with input/assumptions that are
not observable by third parties. The valuation involved
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
BPBEIHRE DHRRBERESNEERERE=JTT
ABRERNERNHA BR - ZREBESIRERATRE
BlRER -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

° Reviewed procedures performed by management
to assess the appropriateness of adopting the net
asset value of the Cambodia Fund as a basis in
determining its fair value;

e EHMEBEBETHNEFUTFEUARBEESNEE
FEREEMREAABENEE

° Obtained valuation report of the Project held by
the Cambodia Fund as at 31 December 2021
performed by an independent third party valuer and
evaluated the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodology and key assumptions
adopted, with the assistance of internal valuation
experts; and

e HISH—EZBBIUNE=ZFHENRARBEEESHE
#IE B 2021512 A1 BB E RER B E
BERNHH THABHESEREARRENESELER
REM: R

° Performed independent online research on key
assumptions adopted in the aforementioned
valuation including market information of Cambodia
properties’ market from 31 December 2021 up to
31 March 2022 to corroborate with management’s
assessment that there was no significant changes
in key assumptions during the period.

e ETHERLAGEMRANERBRRNELHE LH
% BIEH2021F12A31H £2022F3A31H R i
ERMENSEANEEEERERYRBRRKRRKR
BERE (LW

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the valuation of
the Cambodia Fund were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

ARt RMRREEEERBEESHETRTEANH
HABERESINTEERNERENBITOR T

+
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B M % BAD ¥R

Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Recognition of contract revenue
BREHBA

Refer to notes 2.19, 4.1(ii) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BL2MEEMBREMFE2.19 - W aE4.1(i) RMIEES ©

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services of
bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the year
ended 31 March 2022 of approximately HKD378.6 million.
BHZE2022F3A31AILFE: BEEEEEXRFEEE BXER
BRBGHFEHOWALITe6EEET -

Revenue from contracts for the above services is recognised
over the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
on the basis of the actual costs incurred by the Group up to
the year-end date as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

FBRBEEHRARGOHENERE ESEREFARD
EEZERKRAEZSEOGMFTERNANBOLAEBHNERE
iR T 2 £ -

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion is used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to recognise
relevant contract revenue accordingly.

BRI RE RN G K ERETHRESLIER
B A8 B B KB IR JE AT o {4 5t 5T AR AR B 1 7 E 18 A1 AR
BaWBROEETK 2 ERE L BEMEREBS QWA -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
recognition of contract revenue included:

RMBRAREEE

RENBWANEZIEF B

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the costs to complete estimation;

BB E B A M E MR E M ST A BT A AR BT S
EOEMESRRREZNKT FETERERNE
ARk

Selected the ongoing contracts on a sample basis
and reviewed the terms and conditions of the
contracts to understand the respective work nature
and contractual relationship with the customers;
EHEREEEETFEETHNSALERS LMK
R UTHETEHERETPHSHBEIE

Checked the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;
REEETEFNBG BEBEEEAXHSIRER
BURIEEREEHEE X ERMTNAEN:

Assessed management’s determination of the
progress toward complete satisfaction of the
projects through inquiry with project managers,
inspection of project status summary and other
correspondences with customers and performing
site visits;

BARMERKLEESH REBEERARETEFETH
BEWETRSEER U EEIREYIER THE
EBVRE
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Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

e Reviewed the latest project budgets and quotations
from subcontractors in assessing management’s
determination of estimated total costs of projects;

s EMEFEBEBERAAHABEHNRE AFHEEE
HI8 B AR AR HRTE

e Tested the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on
a sample basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or
quotations; and

e RMBEEBRBREXNAHABNBRER RHE - Y
HEMBRAKRBHEENBRAETA : &

e Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and costs.

o ARAOBWARKATENERENE -

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions used to estimate total
costs of projects and progress towards complete
satisfaction as at year end date were supportable by the
evidence obtained and procedures performed.
EREMER RMRREEBHEMEIEB BRI KRR
FHRATKEENBLAMERANAGRRREBEERR
BEEITHREF X FE-

+
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Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

BRNEEUARESZRRESERRNBER G

Refer to notes 2.9(iv), 3.1(ii) (c), 4.1(iii), 18 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
E2HR A M RER W E2.90v) ~ M FE3.1(i)(c) « B &E4.1 (i) »
BHEE18 R FE5E19 o

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD84.2 million and gross trade and retention receivables
of approximately HKD49.6 million as at 31 March 2022.
M202293A31H BEEENSGHNEERBAOR/BI2AER
BTUAKRE S RRESEKFEELN RI06BEE T

The loss allowances for these financial assets were
determined based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. To measure expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention receivables had
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets related to
unbilled work in progress had substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade and retention receivables for
the same types of contracts.
ZETREENBERENEBEERENRR REHER
EBRRET-RIAEEHAEEEE GRNEEUREBESIR
REEERARERBEHRAEERRSB LB RS AE-
ERNEESPRRARARCREIR SHAREREGAONEI R
RE & B FREE KRB R E R

The expected loss rates were based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced over a period of 24 months before
31 March 2022.

FEHREE R EREE M RIE N K2022F3A31H Al 224
BRRNEENEERAEEEEE-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables included:
BMRBEEENEENRE S RRE S EKFREFTH
WEZREFEE:

e  Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the loss allowance estimation such as subjectivity;

e MBAERMIAMIHEMBEMBREFBGT IR
REMESRREZNKE  mEBE - FEEARE
E-ol RSN

e Understood the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit loss for contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and
their respective credit risk;

e THEEEMRAGEHNEEURES RRESEW
REHCEEER(BETREPNEEEN LK
FZHEERR) /RS E S
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Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

The historical loss rates were adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables.
BEBBXTURABIRMEEEFEEANEEUARE
SLEREERWHRENNERZEKLERRNE AT RATE
MEHR -

Management then estimated the loss allowances of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables based
on the adjusted loss rates, the outstanding balances of
contract assets and ageing profiles of trade and retention
receivables as at 31 March 2022.
EEREBEMBEN2022F3A31AMNANEELHAEEIR
ERABREEHRKREZ RRE S EBRZNREMRLEE L
BEUNRES RRESEBYRZIC EBEREETHT-

We focused on the expected credit loss allowance for
contract assets and trade and retention receivables due to
the magnitude of their gross balance at the year end date
and the estimation of relevant expected credit loss involves
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
HRENEENRE D RRE S EBURIEF A B NEREER
BHNBEERRACEEERNMAA P RERHE M EBRRE
MEEETEEREEEIEEH-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMWERNAUEEREREXEIE

° Performed market research to obtain industry
data and challenged management with supporting
evidence to assess reasonableness of forward-
looking information used by management in
determining the adjusted loss rates; and

o EITMBSHETABBITRBURAEEIRE  EMmaT
HERERETKAARBEXSMANBHEENZ
AEME: &

e Checked, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and retention receivables as at 31 March
2022 to the underlying financial records.

e IEHMEEERBN2022F3A31HAMYISLEARN
B 5 RRESEKFEREIBEN -

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained
and procedures performed.

EREMRER RMRREEEBHEGNEEURE S RIR
EeRUHFHBENGEREAABNRREEIERE
AT X -

+
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BRBMRERREVBERRAENER

BANBER DHSRAMBREABBES A FEAR
BAFRERMEBNEAERRARFAERE L
HEABRRRMERNZEEHRSE - HMAER BT (1
RERB)RERMNER BRI ZIIARFERIELME
W-BMTERARENABTRAEMEMBALTE £k
AEEANEE-GERILTSKFHRE ETER
ERBCEBERZER) ETTNER EX - BKRHE
AR IR 2 T 1 B AR BE 3% 3R - BB BRI BT LA P KRR R BE AR
SIE-MRAEBHEMEBIERBEKRAETZER
BB RER AL A KRR AR B B 15 R P AR A AR R
E - A BERRMERRA A REFEEN-

EREBE(EAEERER) ETERNBRET  RE
RTERAE REFTERRERREE - RN

o BAMFTEARNMAFRERMENGRE BB R
REEERERRAORR Rt RRITERE
Fr LA B 155 L R B - DA KR BB 5T R MU B /O | X
BRECFRBEMERNER ARBFFEAIRS R
BwomE FRER ERRAL - FEERAE
EhHlz b R AREERAKFMEHNEKRE
R EBR SN AREERRENBRMEZNE
R B8 FR BRI B f B2

o THREFRZMEBHAIES URFEEHNEX
BF-EBENYIFY ESREAMEHOERKE
BRER-

+

L

seman 2025EHs 115



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BAD ¥R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022

BRBMRERREVBERRAENER

(#&)

BMERAECZZESRREBHA HARMCTHARH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTUER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEBEahREMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

B Z200229F3H31 5 1F F/F

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’'000
iok3 FET FiET
Revenue A ) 413,122 481,286
Cost of sales 8HE KA 7 (390,385) (455,439)
Gross profit EF 22,737 25,847
Other income H Ath g A 6 49 3,725
Administrative expenses TEHAX 7 (30,332) (37,551)
Fair value changes of financial asset BAREFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREENAAEE 16 1,353 6,083
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment THMEEREBIEZ
losses on financial assets () /&M@ 3.1(i(c) (602) 1,058
Operating loss rRess (6,795) (838)
Finance income B A 161 108
Finance costs 51 15 Bk AR (199) (223)
Finance costs — net BE RS A AN — 7 8 8 . ¢ (115)
Loss before income tax BRETEBHATER (6,833) (953)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fissi (AX) /% 10 (413) 1,393
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EBE) a7 (7,246) 440
Other comprehensive income, net Hiz2mUW s HIBRFAEH
of income tax
Item that may be subsequently HE gt E 72
reclassified to profit or loss: fﬁ THYIE A -
- Exchange differences arising REBINEBEER
on translation of foreign operation ER%%,E 190 552
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ERE@E(ER) WH
for the year gl (7,056) 992
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OT[-IER COMPREHENSJYE INCOME
mEeEERREMEEHWER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

B Z200229F3H31 5 1F F/F

Note
k3
(Loss)/profit for the year EhEFER (BE) %R
attributable to
Owners of the Company KRABER A
Non-controlling interests IR R
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEtFREE
for the year attributable to: (BR) WReE:
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEF SN
Non-controlling interests AR
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable Z&2 F#HE AEAG
to owners of the Company SR (FE) BA
Basic and diluted ERREE 11

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  FilisRAERFNE

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FETT
(5,735) 397
(1,511) 43
(7,246) 440
(5,626) 810
(1,430) 182
(7,056) 992
HK Cents HK Cents
B JEN
(2.90) 0.20

i 2 T Wi i B L BB BT B R — DB B
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25
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N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR O R

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

Ro2022F3H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
ok FET FiET
Assets EE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ) E R =N 13 1,707 1,910
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 3,316 5,240
Intangible assets BEEE 15 11,965 11,965
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRBRZ
profit or loss TREE 16 14,647 13,200
Deposits and prepayments & RENR 20 338 607
Deferred tax assets FEEFTISHE E 24 1,189 926
.......33162 33,848
Current assets REBEE
Trade and retention receivables B 5 &R E UK 18 44,673 59,536
Contract assets EHEE 19 83,581 50,116
Deposits, other receivables and e Humlg &
prepayments T3 20 3,158 7,274
Income tax recoverable A] Uy [B] # #k 2,692 2,147
Cash and cash equivalents BehkIReZEEY 21 119,776 112,488
_________ 253,880 231,561
Total assets WEE 287,042 265,409
Equity R

Equity attributable to the owners KATEBAEGLES
of the Company
Share capital AR 7 22(a) 1,553 1,553

Shares held under share award scheme  B& {5 5Byt &1 T AT £

f% 19 22(b) (2,998) (2,998)

Share premium &1 4% B 57,632 57,632
Exchange reserve b 5 1 378 269
Retained earnings RE AT 80,293 86,028
136,858 142,484

Non-controlling interests P IR M o 5,291 6,721
Total equity R 142,149 149,205
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Ra B &

AS AT 31 MARCH 2022

R2022F3H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
ok FET FAETT
Liabilities =i
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaflE 14 909 2,451
______________ 909 2451
Current liabilities REBE
Trade payables =Y ANEN 23 124,151 102,215
Accruals and other payables FEET B2 EoAth FE 1 3R 23 2,172 2,262
Contract liabilities EHEaE 19 15,002 6,246
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 2,659 3,030
_________ 143,984 113,753
Total liabilities weF 144,893 116,204
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 287,042 265,409

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 203 $118E F203HE MG AP KM KR D EE = 2 12022
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of F6A24HMERKETIZEEHAUNTEETREEE:
Directors on 24 June 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Wong Kin Kei
FtF EREE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF

The above consolidated statement of financial position should & #lt4R & BF#E AR S5 3% FE BABE BT BT o — OF BRI -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A5 3¢ 4=
mEeERE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Bt F20224F3A31H I FE

At 1 April 2020 202054 A1H

Profit for the year FREF

Other comprehensive income FREMZERS:
for the year:

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEN
translation of foreign operation AR

Total comprehensive income FRZEKER
for the year bl

Dividend paid to non-controlling BRTEERER
interests (‘NCI’) ([FrEmER])

ZRE

Acquisition of NCI in a subsidiary hE—RNE AR

(Note 29) FERER
(Hiz#29)

At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A31H

At 1 April 2021 R2021E4A1H

Loss for the year FRER

Other comprehensive income FREMZERS:
for the year:

Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEN
translation of foreign operation AR

Total comprehensive income/(loss) FA2HE W,/
for the year (B8] A8E

At 31 March 2022

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2022634318

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRHEEAER
Shares
held under
share award
scheme Non-
Share Share  (Note 22(b) Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium and 27) reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
R 7R B
HET
FisR &
(HizF22(b) %
A B 13 % B 27) B R fRE REEN Mt FERER BER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
1,653 57,632 (2,998) (144) 85,748 141,791 10,414 152,205
- - - - 397 397 43 440
- - - 413 - 413 139 552
- - - 413 397 810 182 992
_ _ _ - = - (3,992) (3,992)
- - - - (117) (117) 117 -
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 269 86,028 142,484 6,721 149,205
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 269 86,028 142,484 6,721 149,205
- - - - (5,735) (5,735) (1,511) (7,246)
- - - 109 - 109 81 190
- - - 109 (5,735) (5,626) (1,430) (7,056)
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 378 80,293 136,858 5,291 142,149
PR RSB R BB T — (% -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Bt F20220F3H31H I FE

Note
i aF
Cash flows from operating activities K& FZHREFRE
Cash generated from operations LEEACES 32(a)
Interest received 2 F &
Income tax paid B ATER
Net cash inflow from operating activities L& E8 2 FHER A
Cash flows from investing activities iﬁﬁxﬁﬁzfiﬁums
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary, ERNELET =N
net of cash acquired 0 %?ﬁ?ﬁ%}\%‘fﬁﬁ
Payments for purchase of property, plant SNBEEWE BE&
and equipment B
Net cash outflow from investing RETHZFRESRE
activities
Cash flows from financing activities BEFTIH2RERE
Dividend paid to non-controlling EH??H [i% 1 55 2
interests &% 2
Interest paid 2AF 8
Principal elements of lease payments HEMNRz K2 IHH 32(b)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B E EE < FH &
bk
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERREEEY
and cash equivalents #in, (Rd) BEE
Effects of exchange rate changes EEMEWIRS R
on cash and cash equivalents ReZEBYM2wE
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April R4RA1ERE R
Cash and cash equivalents at A3A3IERER
31 March HeZEEY 21

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FETT
12,657 5,039
161 108
(1,188) (4,519)
... 11e30 628
= (1,274)
(1,095) (214)
___________ (1,095) (1,488
= (3,992)
(199) (223)
(3,120) (2,988)
___________ 3,319) (7,203
7,216 (8,063)
72 230
112,488 120,321
119,776 112,488

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read it 47 & 1 4 i 1t 55 78 B2 BE P Bt 58 —

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/j_\

BB AR MY R

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Madison Square
International Investment Limited. The ultimate controlling
party of the Group is Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong” or
the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since 4 January
2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar thousands (“HKD’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board on 24 June
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R B R

n‘/j_\

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
ordinance (“HKCO”) Cap.622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for certain financial assets measured at
fair value.

Amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following amended
standards and conceptual framework for the
first time for their financial statements period
commencing 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9

Interest rate
benchmark reform

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent
concessions

The amendments and conceptual framework
listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current
or future periods.

TESTBREE

ZXMTE%TE{/\/E%;Z
SRTERRBE

Eéﬁﬁﬁf BEEEM—BUER-

B (BARARENBL

21 RBEE
BIFIEBYBRELER (BELT

U]

(i)

(iii)

L30]]

ZN/NE]

>

o A

NN~
"BRBHAEFIN ZFREK
MBRERBANE

BB BREREMEMAD

EESEN

HAMBHRRDRBAEER

FEMBHmEER ([BERMBREE
A1) A R %6228 (FE 2 AR
([ K& #&2TERH) J)E’\U@ﬁﬁﬁﬂéfﬁ

TE R

B
e

HeE

%o

A E

MBmERTIIEREL KA LRS-

THIA

BitEZ&mM T AR

AEBERAHNKIETEA

AEBEIRE2021F4 1B FHIBHE
HHREREABERT A TEIEFTH AR
MBS MEER

B0

BEMBREER
FAR BREMBRE
RAETHRREE

M IS ERIFE5R

SCHES
BREMBREER
F165% (EFTA)

Lt

MR & R B

SHERNHAARRYEELERTE -

S5 &R F 395 -

B4
fimt
+i
ol
ot

ks

Covid-1948 &
Heme

BV E AT ANBE 2 M AR 2R 3 348 1 BT
T & WHEFT

L

+

=]
=

%

]

N

al

2022F EW &

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted

The following new accounting standard,
amendments and interpretations have been
published but are not mandatory for 31 March
2022 reporting period and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

FESHHERE (2)

21 RREE (&)
(iv) HERFRAGHFENNBSTERR2E

LATET &R B R2EEBM
1B 3 3E 38 % % B 72202293 A31 8
SHIM BN AEAEBIRERE -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RUTEHR 2%
RENFERREN
Amendments to Annual Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 1 April 2022
Improvements Project
FEBGERE (BFTA) BB MRS £ RI20185F £20204F H) 4 & i 20224 A1 H
Amendments to HKFRS 3, Narrow-scope amendments 1 April 2022
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37
ERM B E LR B3R N EMEET 202244 R1H
B GTERFEI65E K
BRI EREITHR
(BFTA)
Revised Accounting Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting 1 April 2022
Guideline 5 for Common Control Combinations
FETIESIFE5% (BETA) a5 E55% (BTN HRAEHIGHNEHES 202244 A1H
A
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 April 2023
BB ERNSE1R mEHIFERBEEDH 2023F4A18
(BFTA)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (new standard) 1 April 2023
ERMBRELAEI7TR RERED (FER) 2023%4A1H
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 April 2023
BEREMBRELERNE1THR ERMBRELENE17H (BRTA) 2023%F4A1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R B R

n‘/j_\
FESHHERE (#)

21 RBEE(£)
(iv) MREMOFERFIBETER (&)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(iv) New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RUTHHR %
RENFEHRBEXN
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation 1 April 2023
(2020) of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause (HK Int 5 (2020))
BBREESH (2020F) BB REEST (2020F ) Y HKHER 22 —EE 2023F4HA1H
HBEEREREERNZERAERZ DB (BB
ZEE55% (20204 ) )
HKAS 1 and HKFRS 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments) 1 April 2023
Practice Statement 2
ERGFHENEIRREE SBERE (BFTXR) 20234 HA1H
E?M%#&%@EE'J??%%%&%
SE25%
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimate 1 April 2023
BEREGTEBESENIEE] FHAANESR 2023F4A1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 1 April 2023
from a single transaction (amendments)
BB ERNE125% HEBEXHGELANEENEBERBNRELEMER (£ 2023%F4H1H
(15 aT$) HES)
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sales or contribution of assets between an investor To be determined
and HKAS 28 and its associate or joint venture
ié\‘%ﬁﬁ‘%i&i“&ﬁu%m% BREEREBMECE NG EPECEANEELENK T
EE G LR FE285 (& AE
aTﬁ)

The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the adoption of the above
new standard and amendments to existing
standards and interpretations would not have
a material impact on the Group in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions. The Group intends to adopt
the above new standard and amendments to
existing standards and interpretaions when they
become effective.

RRAREERA HH LAMFEAR
HIRBEAMBIIRZETEHAE
Bk KRR EHABMARAER R
RORPEEERFE - AEBER
A KRS R AR R 2R R % ¥ 3R B 2E A
HEE] a2k -

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHBERE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation 2.2 #E

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. The Group applies
the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. Intra-
group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted
to conform with the Group’s policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/j_\

BB AR MY R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statement
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

2. FEEHHERE(#)

2.3

2.4

BYUHEER
RHTERRNRERR AR BES K-
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EEDAARARD KRR BE R BEEA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HKD and majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operate in Hong
Kong and the PRC whereas their functional
currency are HKD and Renminbi respectively.
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HKD, which is the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

BB AR MY R

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(o) income and expenses for each income
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(¢) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign
entities on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2. FEEHHERE(#)
2.5 INIBRE (&)
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BB AR MY R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease term,
improvement whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and recognised in profit or loss.

132 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANINUAL REPORT 2022

2. FEEHHERE (#)

26 X BMERRKRE
FTBME ME KR E T LR AR T
ErBEBRIK BELRABREEER
BMBEREAERAX-

BENAEEREBERAUEESEZIAR
BRI R E N o5 fo 7% B B & A ANBE 1

AR ER FAFALZEREDEIER
ABEUEE (MER) BRBHINEEE
IR - FBEMBERRENEELE
M BEAAG AR K-

ME - BERRBABRETERE R4
AR ERFREERADEEEERSREE:

B RE®E  2-5%F

HEXKE AFSEBHEEH  URE
ERE
& 45

BENNKEERATERFHRSREN
RETEHNLRAE (WER) -WEEMNK
EESNEMGFAIRE S (HE2.8) 8
HEEEENRHRETKRE SR -

HERERRAGRARRAECZHE
E o W B s R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB AR MY R
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

2.8

(ii) Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts acquired
as part of a business combination are
capitalised at fair value separately from goodwill
at acquisition date and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of one to three years.

(iii) Money lending license
Money lending licence is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The cost of a money lending
license acquired is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The money lending license will not
be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite, but subject to impairment testing
annually.

(iv) Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a
limited useful life using the straight-line method
over 1 to 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

134 sANBASE CORPORATION LMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2. FEEHHERE (#)

2.8

7T BREEE (#)

(i) EFBERREHN
RERBEFPERRENREBE O
W—aHm WEEARBEERER
Bom ERARBTHERIFR
BEERIK -BHENEREKRERE
EWKARAGF A AFE1E3F
HE

BEARER

BB A W B8 322 B 7S 310 B A {7 R0 18 /85 48
BI B o W FB DRAE A R BR O B S 3 U T
BHONAAE - REARRETSH
HEEREAGHFHBEESBR
BASFETREND -

(iii)

BT EANBR
AEEHERASHEARNETEE
REEREEIE3FANETHE -

(iv)

FTREENRE

THEEERFHNEE (WREXEFLE
ERAAER)BASE Y ESFETRE
AR - BEREEHRBERARERTREER
BEEAWER  AREENEEETRE
M - REBRREENRAEBLER
BoeHmMERER - AJRODeRREE
MAREREEXNAREREBEMRE 2F
WEEE -LFERENS  AEEZABE
THEMNNBAERE (REELEM) KK
IKFEIDBEERA -FREEIN HRBED
FEMEESNBERE BBETR U
BEREREESA TED -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

BB AR MY R

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will be recorded in profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classified its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(ii)(c) for further
details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2, FESTHEHE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

210EFEEMITA

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts due
from customers for service performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade, retention
and other receivables is expected in the one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-currents.

Trade, retention and other receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade, retention and
other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHBERE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Contract assets and contract liabilities

216N EERBNERE

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net contract asset or a
net contract liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceed the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the
contract is a liability and recognised as contract
liabilities if consideration received (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer exceeds the
measure of the remaining unsatisfied performance
obligations. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, the contract assets mainly consist
of unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipt in advance from customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for impairment
assessment of trade debtors. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the
goods or services to the customers and therefore
satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented as
contract related assets, if the Group expects to
recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The Group recognises
an impairment loss in the profit or loss to the extent
that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

2. FEEHHERE(#)

21IBRERBEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and
cash equivalents.

2.14 Share capital and shares held under share

award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

2.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within one year or less of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHBERE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax

216 BN RIERE FR 15 B

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those temporary differences and losses.

142 SANBASE CORPORATION LUMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

KA 2 P15 B R S 3R S T A A B ) R
RUBAREFERRBR ZBERAMBEHHRE
ENHBE(RESEZRR KRS AHIERG
ZERMBHEERBEZZEMELH

)

BB B

BB SR RASEREREL BRI
WARIRERRD B ML EERMOTE
AE-EREERANERBAREMERBEBR
femEHFBHERREMA XEBERR
AR 8 78 (7] A 75 0 B S N RO TR AR E
e

EIEFRER

BEERMSHEABEERNEERBFON
ERENVBRRNEEEZHEENT
ZHEBBBE- AN HETHREHRAGBHA
MR BMEMEL BN THER - WHELT
FIEMEERKEREELABN — A
RE(EBaHBINMELE BXSEHE

EXEQHRERVBRD T AT AKRE
GRS HRCROKEL R MG

MR E (RBE)EE Iﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁf‘ﬁzﬁk
SHEEZRNELEMSHEESE
FEM e

B FT 1S T & B 12 7 R 2R JE SR B0 A i /)
RARBRZEEREZRNMERE T AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2. FEEHHERE(#)

216 BN RIEAEFR1SBE (&)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/j_\

BB AR MY R

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
which is generally funded through payments
to insurance companies under defined
contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, organised and administered by the
local governments. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE B R R MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the Company has formally announced the
bonus payments to employees.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any on item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown, net of discounts and after eliminating
sales with the Group companies. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

U does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2. FEEHHERE(#)

219 ARERR (#&)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria
have been met for the Group’s activities
described below:

(a) provision of bare shell fit-out, restacking
and reinstaterment services

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised over time as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset or work in progress that the
customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time, by
reference to the actual costs incurred as
a percentage of the total estimated costs
for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works,
maintenance and other services

design,

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the services
were rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE B R R MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest
rate.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.20 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability, any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of car
park are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. The respective leased
assets are included in the balance sheet based on
their nature.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends are
approved by the Company’s Board.

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the group will comply
with all attached conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE B R R MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Government grants (Continued)
Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate. The Group does not
have government grants relating to property and
equipment, and other non-current assets.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board. The Directors identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) and United
States Dollar (“US$”). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities, and net investments in foreign
operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/j_\

BB AR MY R

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(@)

()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
5%) against HKD, with all other variables
held constant, loss for the year (2021:
profit for the year) would have been
approximately HKD199,000 lower/higher
(2021: HKD329,000 higher/lower) mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of RMB denominated net assets.

The foreign currency exchange exposure
on financial asset at FVPL denominated in
US$ is considered to be minimal as HKD
is currently pegged to USS$.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes
arising from debt investment classified
as financial assets at FVPL. The Group
maintains the debt investment for long-
term strategic purposes.

As at 31 March 2022, if the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year
(2021: profit for the year) would have been
approximately HKD1,460,000 lower/higher
(2021: HKD1,320,000 higher/lower).

The Group’s investment as at year end
date is not publicly traded, management
exercises its judgement to determine its
fair value with reference to the net asset
value provided by its administrators and
discounted cash flow of its underlying
residential project.

Management is of the opinion that the
Group has minimal exposure to the price
risk as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE B R R MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the
Group does not have significant interest-
bearing assets. Fluctuation of market
rates does not have a significant impact
to the Group’s performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in
interest rates is mainly attributable to its
borrowings which are at floating rates,
and the directors are of the opinion that
the Group has minimal exposure to cash
flow interest-rate risk as at 31 March 2022
and 2021.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure
is not significant.

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, financial assets at
FVPL, trade and retention receivables, deposits
and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

(a)  Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were mainly deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the
directors do not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(b)

()

Credit risk of deposits and other
receivables

Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental and fit-out deposits,
refundable deposits placed to
subcontractors and suppliers and other
miscellaneous receivables. The credit
quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference
to historical information about the
counterparties default rates and financial
position of the counterparties. Given
the track record of transaction with and
repayment from these counter-parties in
full, the directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by these counterparties
is not significant and does not expect
any losses from non-performance by
the counterparties. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial
and no provision was made as at
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

The Group’s largest customer accounted
for approximately 11% of revenue and the
second largest customer accounted for
7% of revenue (2021: 23% of revenue and
the second largest customer accounted
for 21% of revenue).

The Group’s largest customer and
second largest customer accounted
for approximately 0.1% and Nil of the
Group’s trade and retention receivables
outstanding as at 31 March 2022
respectively (2021: 34% and 1%
respectively).

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss
provision for all contract assets and trade
and retention receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(c)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of
24 months before 1 April 2021 and 2020
and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period.

The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables
are presented as impairment losses
on financial assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/j_\ = /jﬁ%#&% M-.I-

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KRBMER &)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BMKEBER (£)
(i)  Credit risk (Continued) (ii) %Eﬁwﬁ (%)
(c) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEUREZRRELEK

KA ERR (&)

M20224F K2021%3A31H B
BREETWHOT:

and retention receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 March 2022
and 2021 was determined as follows:

Trade and retention receivables

g5 RRESERTE
More than More than More than More than
Contract 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days
assets Current past due past due past due past due Total
ENEE B #BiBI0K H#iB60X #BiBOK HEiB180K &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 March 2022 2022%3H31H
Residential Properties FENE
Gross carrying amount BEEEE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Loss allowance BiEEE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEHBEHREEHER - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties mRNE
Gross carrying amount BEEEE 84,188 17,290 7,729 12,680 6,863 1,471 46,033
Loss allowance BEEE 607 125 120 525 427 163 1,360
Weighted average lifetime FEBMETHES
expected credit loss rate REEER 0.7% 0.7% 1.6% 4.1% 6.2% 11.1%
31 March 2021 2021F3H31H
Residential Properties fe2L ) S
Gross carrying amount LEHEE - - - - - 3,682 3,582
Loss allowance BERE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEHMBEHEEEHRR - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties BRANE
Gross carrying amount BEEE 50,490 33,889 16,085 4,891 4,388 1,274 60,527
Loss allowance BERE 374 253 256 207 130 145 991
Weighted average lifetime FEEMETHES
expected credit loss rate FEBEBRX 0.7% 0.7% 1.6% 4.2% 3.0% 11.4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R B R

n‘/j_\
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KREBER &)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BMKEBER (£)
(i)  Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERARZ)

(c) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEUREZRREZEK

and retention receivables (Continued) s E R (&)
The movement of loss allowances for R20224F K2021E3A31B A 4
contract assets and trade receivables BELMEZFRUANEEREZ
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as FENT
follows:
Contract Trade
assets receivables
EHNEE HIEWFRE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET F&ET
Loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 R2020F4 18K
R 1,018 4,987
Decrease in loss allowance RIETRERHN
recognised in profit or loss &5 1B B R (644)
Loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 R2021F3HA31H &
and 1 April 2021 202154 4181
EiE B 374
Increase in loss allowance recognised REZPERH
in profit or loss &5 18 5 42 0 233
Loss allowance as at 31 March 2022 MR2022F3HA31HH
R 607
Trade receivables are written off when B RWRIBEBRIT ESIETET
there is no reasonable expectation of T U5 [0 B A8 o 3 RS IR TR AR AT
recovery. Indicators that there is no TWEzHRBIE(EPEE)
reasonable expectation of recovery BT A K 88 BN £ [ 2 o8 FRGT
include, amongst others, the failure of a £
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.
Given that there was no default for ERBARKRE ST REL
retention receivables in the past, the B ERAN202249F K202143 A
directors considered the risk of default of STHMEWRESMEDRR
retention receivables as at 31 March 2022 WAEXR-EI BWRES &
and 2021 is not significant. Therefore, EEBENEREEREE
expected credit loss rate of retention mIaEFE
receivables and hence the loss allowance
is assessed to be close to zero.

(d)  Financial assets at FVPL (d) BRI EEFABDHEHEE
The Group exposed to credit risk in K%’% EaZHEZALEEFER
relation to debt investments that are HEE 85t )\ EHEENEBER
measured at FVPL. As at 31 March 2022, EEBEMEARR 5

the maximum exposure of the investment
is the carrying amount of approximately
HKD14,647,000 (2021: HKD13,200,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXERERE &)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKREBEE (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) AEBHERR
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity MEMERERIEEBHABITUZMNIE
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations PHE—eREENFEXNEESHE
associated with financial liabilities that are ERHEEARETNRR-
settled by delivering cash or another financial
assets.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies FEMORDMEREBEAITEAN
maintaining sufficient cash and cash RekBReEEBY-
equivalents.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERABAEENeHRAEGESEEMR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based B HAENRERNREBRES RS
on the remaining period at the reporting date HAMEREABELSO T TR
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts ENSHEDNDERAOARUBRERE -
disclosed in the table are based on the BREBZEITER R+ =EA
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances NEIEAR AR SR HBREE ©

due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not

significant.
On demand From From Total
or less than iyearto  2yearsto Over contractual Carrying
1 years 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
REXRT BH-% HZF EHEER
—FHUT EWME ERf RENE g REE
HKD'000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FiET
At 31 March 2022 #2022E3A31A
Trade payables (Note 23) ERRMR (H#23) 124,151 - - - 124,151 124,151
Accruals and other payables JERT REAMENK 1,735 - - - 1,735 1,735
Lease liabilities (Note 74) BERE (Hit14) 2,749 836 96 - 3,681 3,568
At 31 March 2021 ®2021F3A31A
Trade payables (Note 23) BARFR(H#23) 102,215 - - - 102,215 102,215
Accruals and other payables JEst REA N 1,894 - - - 1,804 1,894
Lease liabilities (Note 74) MEGE (Hit14) 3,205 2,340 165 = 5,710 5,481
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s net current MR2022F3A31H "REBRRHE
asset is HKD109,896,000 (31 March 2021: EF B 5109,896,0007%8 7T (202143
HKD117,808,000). A318 :117,808,000/& 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXEKRERE &)

(Continued)

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital REENERAEEREAREHISELE
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going Mee - UARREHRB R R AEMIFMN
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders EREBEMNEURESREEREBE AR D
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain B RPN o
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, BEFIABREARAERE AEE AR
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid HTFRENRESTE MBRREEEAR B
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue BRI EEENRBDER-
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The operating cash inflows of the Group are AEERLEEHELENRSRATHAR
sufficient for investing activities including acquisition KEEBOFRERES -
of new businesses.
No gearing ratio is presented as the Group did not R B 7020224 2021563 HA31 82
have outstanding debt as at 31 March 2022 and BEERMAREENEBGE WAEZINEEBE
2021. loge 30

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 RAEME

The following financial instruments carried at fair
value are categories based on the level of inputs to
valuation techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.

(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

MEERER &)
DREE (&)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period by level of the fair value
measurement hierarchy.

Level 1

%-B
2022 2021
2022%F 20215
HKD’000 HKD'000
TET FET

Unlisted debt investments (Note 16) 3k EEKIRE (#1#16) -

T§IJEEW1J§%$E BRBRERARA=ZER
FERBOBEZUAABEHEZHH I

Level 2 Level 3 Total

oy EZE At
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022%F 20215 2022%F 20215 20225 20215
HKD'000 HKD'000 ~ HKD'000 HKD'000 ~ HKD'000 HKD'000
TET FET Tz FET Tz FAET
- - 14,647 13,200 14,647 13,200

Disclosures of the financial assets that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 16 and are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

There were no transfers of financial assets between
level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2022 and
2021.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2022.

BHEAABEAENERMEEZHEHL
B FE1630 720224 K 20213831 B 4
AXREBEERE=ZER-

HE2022F3A31BILFE F—E -F =
BREEZEBARBERBR B ZMEI &%
BEREE-

REHEKNATENTREENABN AR
BEAREERS

R20224F K 202143 A31H
TADERAREFE-

B H A Rl

HZE2022%3A31HILFE

A ERTHE

o

+

L
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KREBER &)
(Continued)
3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial 34 KicmEERESMAE
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial TR 25| R2022F K2021F3HA31H E ##
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2022 and REOEHE@MIT A
2021.
Net amounts
Gross amounts presented
set off in the in the
consolidated consolidated
statement statement
Gross of financial of financial
amount position position
REEHE REEHE
DIEN R &
R EigF ot 250 FE
HKD'000 HKD 000 HKD'000
FET FHT FEIT
2022 2022%F
Financial assets THEE
Deposits and other receivables e REMEREK 2,208 = 2,208
Financial liabilities FHEE
Trade payables EC A 124,151 - 124,151
2021 20215
Financial assets THEE
Deposits and other receivables Ze REMERR 10,371 (3,650) 6,721
Financial liabilities THEE
Trade payables ZHREMR 105,865 (3,650) 102,215
Note: et -
As at 31 March 2021, an advance due from a subcontractor M2021563A318 - IRIEH H B E  KEHEE
is offset against trade payables from the same RIBAEEER — R EHENE S BN RIE -

subcontractor pursuant to the subcontracting agreement.

160 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M AE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
these involving estimations (see below), that the
directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Estimated valuation of a financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss

The Group holds a financial asset that is not
traded or quoted in active markets. The Group
uses its judgement to select the appropriate
methods and make assumptions based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period to estimate the fair value of
such financial instrument classified as level 3
in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques
include net asset values as provided by
fund administrators and discounted cash
flow approach which utilises inputs such as
projected cash flow and discount rate of the
underlying project/investment. Although best
estimate is used in estimating fair values,
there are inherent limitations in any valuation
technique. Estimated fair values may differ
from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.

4. BRSE A RAE

et A S HRIFETE LERXNBELERIE
AR (BRERBABERLTHEHRREMHNG
HEH) -

41 BEREHMEFARER

AEBSRRELAEERBRR -FITZ2E
AT MEER ROBMEBNERER
BB RERGFEEMN - W
BETMETEZEERT G OEE B8]
2R % MR WERT R ERE
B R AR - RIR & 7T HA ) B oK 2R A ) 4

7
e

BR % R (B R30) E SN AT B8 4
RESFERBAASESTRRBEPIE
WY BHESVBERRAERNSEBENX
REBYE-

() URAEEFEEESHTHABREN
THMEENMER
AEBRBEREEEMT SR I HHRE
MEREE - AEBERESEHKE
EREENTSER  EREAEE
BEENFELMERE  REFE
AABEEBRXFIER/RF=ZANTH
TANRAABE-HENEZEEES
EEARKNEEFEMNRERITR
%o ROENAMEBEEE RENRG
RenENMURXEZHABE-BE
EHFAABERBERT REMKG
BEAEERTTSFERENBRIE-
MRFEBRKOTE B anE
BEREETRREFERNERE-
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and
variation orders prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by major subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to
keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment losses on financial assets

The provision for contract assets and trade
receivables are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the
customers’ past payment history, the Group’s
historical default rates, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details
of management’s credit risk assessment are
disclosed in Note 3.1(ii)(c).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(iv)

Estimations in goodwill impairment
assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount
of goodwill is determined based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal or value
in use calculations. The recoverable amount
calculations primarily use cash flow forecast
based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a period of five years approved by
management and estimated terminal value at
the end of the forecast period.

There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved in the preparation of cash
flow forecast for the period covered by the
approved budgets. Key assumptions include
the growth rates and discount rates to reflect
the risks involved. Management prepares the
financial budgets and forecasts reflecting
actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow forecast and changes
to key assumptions could affect these cash
flow forecast and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.

4, BERETAETRHE &)

4.1 BEEAHREBR (&)
(iv) ®BEREFENEE

AEEBFHRBMBETRENS
RBRE BENAREEEEA
FEBRLERAKEREEFESE (S
BeErnE)EE - AJRESREFEE
TERANEEEMLERERFH
M BRERBEBARKENRERE
FEORIA R IR AR 0 fh BT AR (B MR »

BB EREMRERRMANIR S
MERALRZHEBREAMGT -T2
MRRBEERE LB R KRR
BhER. EEERERKRERER
TFEEXRBEMSERBHNMBEE
ERFEA-RREREBERREKAN
TERRAELHE T eBE 2
BROBEARTELERERER
Bl I EAmM BB ERSNER-
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RS EHER

Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE
Restacking R
Reinstatement EIR
Design ®E

Churn works THIIE
Maintenance and others REREM

The Group’s revenue mainly represents revenue from the
provision of interior fit-out solutions for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from churn works, design, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time for
the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM”) of the Group who
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group focuses
on provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong
and the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
2021. Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial
statements accordingly. The Group primarily operates
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Revenue generated from
customers in the PRC is also related to the provision of
interior fit-out solutions and the reported geographical
segment information is presented below.
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2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
172,096 249,810
200,058 201,024
6,419 11,112
7,326 1,402
25,696 16,522
1,527 1,416
413,122 481,286

REBEH E20224F K2021E3A31 B ILEE MUK
AT ELRBERNEFTRRTERAEBHWA -

H E2022F N2021F3A31H I FERERLREE
EBEKERRSmE SO WA THBE R RE mE
RMBATEIRE R - REREMKRSME
A R U T AR B I (R B ] B T 1 RR o

NITESEHERARAEENTIELLRRE
(EELEREE]) AEEHAEENANIR
HUAFERBROEER 8 220224 2021
FIAGIALFE AELEEHEITRERENRT
REZTAREBIAFTR - ARESHLAEENE
BRAE—KENHWHEEENGRETHRE
MHERIPEERBFEMS AEELEEREK
EERNERAERAEENBRELEEE X
EEFrZRERERPEALEES -KRARPEEK
FHWANERBETAEERLAIREH KE
ERWBHEERF LT o
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BB AR MY R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.

INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the service provided. The Group’s
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong
and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

Hong Kong BB
The PRC a2

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue are set out below.

Customer A EFEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C EFEC

Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of
the Group'’s total revenue.

OTHER INCOME 6.

Government subsidies BT 47 BA

The amount represents government grant in respect of
the Distance Business Programme (2021: the Employment
Support Scheme) received from the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are no
unfulfiled conditions or other contingencies attaching to
the grant. The Group did not benefit directly from any
other forms of government assistance.

WARDHER &)
i 32 & R

EPFHNWEUENERNRERRBOUE A&E
ZEERANTEBURBERTE  TREIA
SERBINBEPOBAST -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
389,377 468,866
23,745 12,420
413,122 481,286
FEEXEFEH
KEEAEERAKABIBI0O% HEF /WA
FanR o
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
N/A (Note) 110,028
TEA (Fat)
N/A (Note) 101,213
TEA (Fat)
46,107 N/A (Note)

TER (Kat)

Hrat: MBEBATBBARERBEAZ10% -

H g A

2022
20224
HKD’000
FET
49

2021
20214
HKD’000
FET

3,725

ZRERREE B R BT IR R BT e & R
LAt &l (20214  fRELRGHE)) AT B M BT 8
RE - Ub W B I B R 2 RIF SR At B TR -
REBY E|EZRZ AN EMEMEANBRTERE -

=]
25

L
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7. EXPENSES BY NATURE 7. RHEEBEESHRAX
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and REBH £20229F N202143A31H IEFE 0%
2021 are stated after charging the following cost of sales FIEHBRIA T HER A RITHALE S 0T
and administrative expenses:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Subcontracting charges "BEEH 356,205 414,495
Staff costs (Note 9) BITRA (A7:9) 44,941 45,163
Cleaning expenses BR2EH 3,106 8,979
Insurance expenses RER A X 2,853 3,499
Short-term lease payments (Note 714) RERENR (HiF14) 248 13
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 B 5 B
- Audit service —BZR 1,363 1,346
- Non-audit service —FEZIRB - 112
Depreciation on right-of-use FRAEEEZITE
assets (Note 14) (Kiat14) 3,139 3,140
Depreciation on property, plant and ME - BELREBEZNE
equipment (Note 13) (Hia13) 1,298 1,460
Amortisation of intangible BVEESNE (Wit15)
assets (Note 15) - 175
Legal and professional fees FENEEBA 2,663 7,665
Other expenses E Y 4,901 6,943
Total cost of sales and administrative SHE A RITH R X 5
expenses 420,717 492,990
Representing: Hrh:
Cost of sales 5 & B AR 390,385 455,439
Administrative expenses TR X 30,332 37,551
420,717 492,990
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FINANCE COSTS - NET 8.

RITERA B WA
HeEafzMBEMX
(Brat14)

Interest income from bank deposits
Interest expense on lease
liabilities (Note 14)

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 9.

EMOLUMENTS

¥re JEALROERE
RARAEF 5K

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits contributions

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included four (2021: four) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 31(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2021:
one) individuals during the year are as follows:

EXHE RIEA
RARAEF 5K

Basic salaries and bonuses
Retirement benefits contributions

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

MHE AR — F

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
161 108
(199) (223)
(38) (115)
EIRE (BREEEME)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET
43,180 43,626
1,761 1,537
44,941 45,163
TEREHFMAL

FRAEAKEEAFMER 258 AL BE4A
(20215 1 4% ) EF - HFHMEME31(a) P RBR -
FREMNBT1E (2021F - 18) AL 2 F M m

T

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD'000

FAET FAET

1,361 1,354

18 18

1,379 1,372
HEE
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9. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 9. EIRAKX (BRERESME) »)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued) hEREHFMAL (&)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: EEHENRATHE :

Number of individuals

A"
2022 2021
20224 20214
Emolument bands B & & E
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,0018 T2
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 10. FiIBHiIAYX (EH)
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
F#ET FET
Current income tax BIEAFT 1S 154
- Hong Kong profits tax —BABENEH 275 243
Under/(over)-provision for prior years Ei% BTR(FBERE) 370 (999)
Deferred tax (Note 24) BT (Hat24) (232) (637)
413 (1,393)
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council M2018F3A21H BRI Z @B (2017F
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 % (EE]) (B7TR)GHER) ([HRAIER]) -
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax EIPNGE TS ﬁﬁ"%Ur 1& 0 & 22 7R20184F 3
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March HosBEEERAZERER YR EBHAEZFR - RIE
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to MANENRRESHE cEREEERBNE2R
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 BB TLE AR R A 15 158.25% M B R B - AR
million of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity B2E BB TR ERB R F B1%16.5% B 7 2 &
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above R AFEMBAFERRENEERNEERETR
HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable ZIERBR S EE N F16.5% R — B REF -

profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.
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10.

BB AR MY R

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(Continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of Sanbase Interior
Contracting Limited is calculated at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%)
on the first HKD2 million (2021: HKD2 million) of the
estimated assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits above
HKD2 million (2021: HKD2 million) for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (“‘EIT”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (2021: 25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year.

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of

10. FTEHBX (ER) (@)

W ANFEBRMEFER AR ZEAFNESR IR
HEEEREFOE2EE BT (20215 125 &
HJT) bA8.25% (20214 : 8.25% )M T KT &
HBiBE2AEETT (2021F 2B BB L)W HaTE
SR M IE16.5% (20214 - 16.5% ) B9 Bt = 5t
= o

RIBEFBRCEMSH ([CEREBH])ERDE
TS B IEN  PEFEB AR ZHEAE25%
(20214F : 25%) °

AREBRFRAEEMBRDEER T ERGRERKR
A MERE M EAENAERIEL G-

AEEBRBRBAN (BE) TGN RE BAE
BEARARANERREAENERTBEAN
ARSI

the Group as follows:

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FHET

Loss before income tax B B AT S 1B (6,833) (953)
Tax calculated at respective statutory tax rate  1Z{E BRI EE M K+ E

R RYE] (1,295) (322)

Different taxation rate in other country H A B R AN [R) B R (202) (238)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes IR LA 3 - 73

Income not subject to income tax EAARBIR IR A (15) (1,648)

Recognition of other temporary difference EREMERFEESR (136) 188

Tax loss not recognised RNERTEEE 1,701 1,583

Tax concession HEER (10) (30)

Under/(over)-provision in prior years TEREBETRS
(HBEEE) 370 (999)
Income tax expense/(credit) FBHimA=,/ (E%) 413 (1,393)

+
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iRE B R R MR

11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue less the total number of
shares held under share award scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

1. R (EE) &F
(a) EA&
BRER(BB) /BN DEEZE2022F
N2021F3A3TB L FEARRAI B AR
16 (E518) /8 FIBR LA B 217 X 38 AR &9 pn4E
9 OB A% (0 2B =T8I N BT iR AR D R AT
o

2022 2021
20224 20214
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RABHB AEL
of the Company (HKD’000) (B8R) aH
(FX¥T) (5,735) 397
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E RS ME
shares in issue less shares held under TG BOR AR 1D 22 B
share award scheme (in thousand) SFEITN ARG (FK) 197,977 197,977
Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share &% E @R ER
(HK cents) (EB#8|) /8BH CEW) (2.90) 0.20
(b) Diluted (b) #8

There were no outstanding share options as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 and have no potential
dilutive ordinary share in issue. Accordingly, diluted
(loss)/earnings per share is equal to basic (loss)/
earnings per share.

12. DIVIDEND

The Board do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BMERRKRHE

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicle Total
ERRRE HE£E B &5t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ202153A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BRMEEFE 552 1,296 346 2,194
Additions NE 1,268 - - 1,268
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERB AR 164 - - 164
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEER (Ki27) (738) (603) (119) (1,460)
Exchange difference EHER 3 - - 3
Write-off HisH - (259) - (259)
Net book amount at 31 March R3AS1BREEHE FE 1,249 434 207 1,910
At 31 March 2021 202138310
Cost AR 2,996 2,463 475 5,934
Accumulated depreciation 2FHE (1,747) (2,029) (248) (4,024)
Net book amount REFE 1,249 434 227 1,910
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ2022F3A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April RAR1A R REFE 1,249 434 227 1,910
Additions RE 619 476 - 1,095
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEEBR (Mi27) (686) (494) (118) (1,298)
Net book amount at 31 March ~ M3A31BKREFE 1,182 416 109 1,707
At 31 March 2022 M202263H31H
Cost AR 3,622 2,581 475 6,678
Accumulated depreciation RimE (2,440) (2,165) (366) (4,971)
Net book amount REFE 1,182 416 109 1,707

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD1,298,000
(2021: HKD1,460,000) have been charged to
“administrative expenses” for the year ended 31 March
2022.

REE2022F3A31H IFFE - 491,298,000/ 7T
(20214F : 1,460,000 JT) ITERM X BT A 17
Bz

+
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14. LEASE 14. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group A FREEFEAEBAEFBANHEENE R -
is a lessee.
() Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEMBERRRBEIANSE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of finance position RAEVBRAAREBETRIUTEHEEEEAN S
shows the following amounts relating to leases: B
2022 2021
2022F 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises MAEYE 2,854 4,739
Warehouse BE 61 153
Office equipment N 401 348
3,316 5,240
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current BN HA 26 2,659 3,030
Non-current JEBDERE 909 2,451
3,568 5,481

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year HE2022F3A31ALFEARENFAESE
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately EE #9/51,818,0007% 7T (20214F : 4,489,000
HKD1,818,000 (2021: HKD4,489,000). BIT) °
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érb

i

14.

= B 7% Rk MY AL

LEASE (Continued) 14. *E.%E. (%)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REZEEERERNSHE
statement of profit or loss
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows EERRBERUNTHEEEHEN S
the following amounts relating to leases:
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Bt FET FET
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEZHEEA
right-of-use assets
Office premises /NS ES (2,915) (2,916)
Warehouse BE (92) (92)
Office equipment NS (132) (132)
7 (3,139) (3,140)
Interest expense MERX (BEMBEXEA)
(included in finance cost) 8 (199) (223)
Expense relating to short-term EHEE s HAX
leases (included in administrative (BRETEAZA)
expenses) 7 (248) (13)

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately
HKD3,567,000 (2021: HKD3,211,000).

L

+

=]
=

%

]

N

HE202243AC1HITFEMNHEER &
it 4B %8 %) 53,567,000/ 7T (20214 ¢
3,211,0005 7T ) ©
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14. LEASE (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouse and
equipment. Lease contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years, but some may
have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

There were no variable lease payments for the
leases entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
amounted to approximately HKD571,000 (2021:
HKD1,020,000) and approximately HKD581,000
(2021: HKD1,065,000) (Note 32(b)) respectively were
derecognised as a result of termination of leases
during the year ended 31 March 2022 resulting in the
recognition of a gain on termination of approximately
HKD10,000 (2021: HKD45,000) (Note 32(a)) in the
profit or loss.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and warehouse leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The Group recognises right-of-
use assets with extension and termination options
that are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor only if the Group is highly likely
to exercise the options.
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14. 8 & (&)

(iii)

(iv)

REBENHEEEBRAEIREE

AEEEEZEANRLE EEAREG-THE
BRBERIESFNEEHR EEH D%
BT X (iv) it ey EHD R 242 -

m

HEGRDEBHBRER EPEER
7R B 1R 3R R AR A

H E2022F K2021FE3A31BH IEFE AR E
B EREHENRTNAE -

H E2022F3ABIHIEFEAR AHER
IEMERIEERNECAREENHEEAR
A% D Bl #) A&571,000/ T (20214 ¢
1,020,000/ Jt) & 49 /581,000 7T (2021
F 11,065,000 7t) (MsE32(b)) - FRE &£
By 4% 1 FE & W 25 49 510,000/ 7T (2021 4F ¢
45,0007 7T) (Ft#E32(a)) @ I B £ 18 35 #E

27
D?JL‘A °©

R IERERE
AEENETYXEREREHRHERSLEHR
REREE-FLRAREEESEELT
ERAMNEE T HRERATKLLEEL-#
EAEEBARREITEHER AKEA
MRABTCHME DEERNEREEE
EURERREHASEMIFESTENHHA
ATTE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B &EE

Customer Money
relationship lender’s
Goodwill and contracts licence Total
EFBER
RS ¥l BEAER &t
HKD000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ202153A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BRMEEFE 9,544 175 = 9,719
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERB AR - - 2,421 2,421
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BIER (KH7) = (175) = (179)
Net book amount at 31 March R3AS1EEEE FE 9,544 = 2,421 11,965
At 31 March 2021 R202163H31H
Cost A 9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
Accumulated amortisation L& - (2,870) - (2,870)
Net book amount REFE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZ2022F3A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2021 R2021F4R18 Rk
and 31 March 2022 2022F3A31AMIR A FE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
At 31 March 2022 M202263A31H
Cost AR 9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
Accumulated amortisation RETHH - (2,870) - (2,870)
Net book amount REFE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965

No amortisation charge have been charged to
“administrative expenses” for the year ended 31 March
2022 (2021: approximately HKD175,000).

HZE2022F3A3 AL FE HMEHEEERAD T
ATTTE RS | (20214 : #9175,000/87T) °

L

+

=]
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/j_\ = /jﬁ%#&% M-.I-

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

U]

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group’s goodwill of approximately HKD6,470,000
(2021: HKD®6,470,000) and approximately HKD3,074,000
(2021: HKD3,074,000) were arisen from the acquisitions of
Core Group and GZ Siwu in the prior years. The directors
considers Core Group and GZ Siwu as two separate cash
generating units (“CGUs”) and allocates goodwill resulting
from the said acquisitions accordingly.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use
(*VIU”) calculation. The calculation uses pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by the
directors covering a five-year period. Key assumptions used
in the calculation includes pre-tax discount rates ranging
from 19% to 22% (2021: 18% to 22%), revenue growth
rates ranging from 3% to 5% (2021: 3% to 5%) and gross
profit margin ranging from 15% to 22% (2021: 13% to
22%) for the five-year forecast period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rate of 3% (2021: 3%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate and gross
profit margin based on past performance of the CGUs
and their expectations for the market development. The
discount rates applied by the Group are rates that reflect
current market assessment of the time value of money and
risk specific to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amounts of the CGU in which goodwill has been allocated
are higher than their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2022
and 2021. As a result, no impairment loss was charged
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are not
sensitive to the changes in assumption, no sensitivity
analysis is disclosed.
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5, BE&E (&)
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(i)

BB ZRER

NEBZEEL6,470,0008 5T (20214 :
6,470,000/ Jt ) & #73,074,000 JT (20214 :
3,074,000 L) DRI EEBUNEFEAUWE
Core Group M EMET T - Z= % #5 Core Group &
GZ SwuilAMEEBENESELEM ([RE
BEEBEN|) U EREESEE FREEEZEBE-

EREEFRIESELAEMNEEERSTSRA
WECEABREEHEREBE - ReEFLEMNT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VAN
:%IT\IZI

B %5 ¥R 3R B R

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Impairment assessment for money lender’s license

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount
of the money lender’s license is higher than the recoverable
amount which results in impairment. The recoverable
amount of the money lender license is determined at
the higher of its value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal.

To best of the knowledge of the directors and with the
assistance of external valuer, the fair value less costs of
sales of the money lender’s license determined by market
approach is higher than its carrying amount as at 31 March
2022 and 2021.

Accordingly, no impairment loss was charged during the
year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group classifies the debt investments that do not
qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI,
at FVPL. Financial assets measured at FVPL include the

15. BILEE (&)
Bt (48)

(i) BEABRZBETMG

ERESFRIMBARENREESZESR
AJ U [B] S B A BUEE AR JRUE » IRUME A R R 9 R W @
CHEEGAEEAEATERLEEREAMESD
MERSEET -

BEEMRA LA GEEMOBB T RH5
FETHOREAMBROAFEREERNASTR
H 020224 K202163 31 HHAREE -

Il - & 20224 &2021F3A31H I FE I &
HRRESE-

16. BAREREBEZH T ABEN
THMEE
AEBETHARBERARRAABHER
HEPH ARG REARSRAAEHBEERS
B ARBNEBRAETHR - ROABEHE

following: BEEZHFTAEZNEREEBRUTSE:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET

Non-current assets ERBEE

Unlisted debt investments FLEMEBIRE 14,647 13,200
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
At 1 April R4H1H 13,200 7,094
Fair value changes N IIE- 1,353 6,083
Exchange difference M N Z R 94 23
At 31 March M3A31H 14,647 13,200

+

stesman 2026ERs 177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/j_\

16.

BB AR MY R

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s unlisted debt
investment represented debt instrument in an unlisted fund
with limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands which
holds an underlying residential project (the “Project”)
located in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”).

The Project accounted for substantially all of the
Cambodia Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value
as at 31 March 2022 and 2021, accordingly, in the opinion
of the directors, the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund
approximated its fair value.

The Group’s investment in the Cambodia Fund was
measured at fair value with reference to the net asset
value of the Cambodia Fund provided by its administrators
and discounted cash flow of the Project. Key assumptions
used in the valuation of the Project of the Cambodia Fund
are as follows:

Adopted unit rate HANEBEMEXR

Adopted unit rent HAMEBELES

Adopted agency fees and KAMNKREEMNAS
commission

Pre-tax discount rate T A AL IR R

The Cambodia Fund was denominated in US$.
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16. &

US$3,500/square meter

US$30/square meter

REFTEEHEBTABERZN
cHMEE &)

2022 3A31H AL BMIELTEBKBIKEER
ERHEREFMRINIFLTERETAQA
BEMRRBEENHEEEEER ([EE])ME
BIA([RHEEES]) -

ZEEBMRBEESHRBY FEE  WIK2022
FR2021F3A31EHM AR BEYE Aitt-E
ERBE RERESNEEFEREAAEEM
;ﬁo

AEBRRERESHRENAAEBEFER
%‘%Eﬁﬁ)\?ﬁf MEEFENEBNMERR
TR ARFERERESHANIERRAT

2022 2021
20225 20214

US$2,815-US$3,500/
square meter

2,816 TLE
3,500% 7T, /F 77 K

3,500 Tt ¥ 75 3K

US$30/square meter

30% 7t F 75K 30%F T,/ F A K

8% - 14% 8% — 14%

10% 10%
RIHEESUETE
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

BB AR MY R

CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Assets as per consolidated statement

of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost

— Trade and retention receivables (Note 18)
— Deposits and other receivables (Note 20)
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 217)

Financial assets at FVPL (Note 16)

Total

Liabilities as per consolidated statement

of financial position

Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs:

- Trade payables (Note 23)
— Accruals and other payables
— Lease liabilities (Note 14)

Total

17. RERIEINEMT A

BEMBRARAREE

REHEKATENSBEAE
~ B RREE BRI (HiE18)
— e R EMmEKR (H220)
-RekBEEEY (Hat21)

RAREFEBEZHTA
BRNEREE (Hit16)

BEMBRARATEE

BEHERAGENERAE
—BHRENX(BiF23)
—FEET R E A TR
—-HERE (MiF14)

AEBFEUATERIA:

2022 2021
20225 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
44,673 59,536
2,208 6,721
119,776 112,488
166,657 178,745
14,647 13,200
181,304 191,945
124,151 102,215
1,735 1,894
3,568 5,481
129,454 109,590
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iRE B R R MR

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 18. E 5 RRE B I

Trade receivables B 5 WK
Retention receivables RE S &Y R

Less: provision for impairment of trade Jil : B 5 &R E & B U

and retention receivables VKR
(Note: 3.1(ii)(c)) (a2 3.1(ii)(c))

Trade and retention receivables — net & 5 M I1FE 4 &K —

Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 was the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.
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2022 2021
20224 20214

Note HKD’000 HKD’000

Jiokza FET FET

(a) 48,136 61,256

(c) 1,479 2,853

49,615 64,109

(4,942) (4,573)

FRE 44,673 59,536

ZESRRESEBEHBERSE A IREHKR
ﬁgéﬁipﬂaﬁﬁ 20224 202193 H318 -
BRI G EERRAEREE A
SEVYEBEETANERRIEAEKR -BZ RRE
PRI CEEENRAAAEEE - BSHRR
BeERRAEBUBETLRARESE-
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BB AR MY R

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180H M £

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques in this consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 and 2021 are set out in Note 3.1(ii)(c). Details
of impairment assessment on financial assets subject
to expected credit loss model are set out as below.

During the year, the Group provided approximately
HKD369,000 and approximately HKD233,000
(2021: reversed approximately HKD414,000 and
approximately HKD644,000) impairment allowance to
trade and retention receivables and contract assets
respectively, were classified as “financial assets
measured at amortised cost”.

18. EG R RESEWRR (&)

(a)

(b)

AEBEERTERFNEES RAEAERE
AH#£30R - T8F IR KB HE1F
2 JERHR B & 708 - 720224 202143 A
1R EREZAH2INEZRURRZE
oM

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FiET
15,278 32,144
1,890 16,085
7,729 4,591
19,383 3,849
3,856 4,587
48,136 61,256

mEE%FEEEEﬁﬁQEEEﬁ
TEERERFGE

AEBRBBELAEZREETSMBEREE
BIZEOSR AT EMTBEHAE BB 1B - #i 2022
FR2021F3A31H L FENEZEE T B R
RTWETHASEARREZ MG HZE
B EL A BT 5E3.1(i)(c) ~ TR BRI E B 1R 18
ATHEMEERETFHZFBHINOT -

FRN AEEEDBERZEENEATENS
MEECBEIRRESEBRRREGHOEE
BB B 1% 5 BIl #9369,00058 7T & #7233,000
BT (20214 8B 49414,000%8 7t & 49
644,000/ 7T ) °

+
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18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 18. EZ R REE£EWR (&)

(Continued)

(c) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis (c) 720224 K202163H31A KHEZHHE
of the retention receivables based on the invoice FIE R E B R 2 BREE DT T
date was as follows:

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FAET

Within 30 days 30H A - 1,745
31 to 60 days 31260H 123 -
61 to 90 days 61290H - 301
91 to 180 days 912180H - 540
Over 180 days 180H M £ 1,356 267
1,479 2,853

Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment of

REBE L E 5 AR B £ 8 UK E H R B B

trade and retention receivables are detailed in Note 15 /) 2 B ¥ B P BT 5E3.1 (i) (o) ©
3.1(ii)(c).

(d) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying (d) #HZE2022%F K2021F3H318 B 5 KR E
amounts of gross trade and retention receivables CRIWFBERAMEEREATEESE I

approximate their fair value and were denominated in
the following currencies.

AT EREEHE -

2022 2021
20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FAETT

HKD BT 48,206 63,453
RMB AR 1,409 656
49,615 64,109
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

10. EHNEENRER

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FHAT FHET

Contract assets (Note (i) BREE (WE0) 84,188 50,490
Less: provision for impairment loss

(Note 3.1(ii)(c) B ORE B R (#:23.1(i)(c)) (607) (374)

83,581 50,116

Contract liabilities (Note (ij) GHRBE (W) (15,002) (6,246)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, contract assets related to
construction services consist of unbilled amount resulting
from construction when the cost-to-cost method of revenue
recognised exceeds the amount billed to the customer.

(ii) As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of construction works performed and the advance
payment made by customers.

(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
approximately HKD6,246,000 (2021: HKD5,656,000). There
was no revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied in previous years during the year ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

(iv)  Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2022

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
service contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately
HKD175,222,000 (2021: HKD222,421,000).

Hat

iy  M2022% K2021F3A31H HEERBEBEH
ANBEDESHERZER ARAEMERHKA
BBARNEFRBNSEMEEANARALRZSHE-

(ii) MR20224F 202143 A31H EERNEHNAEE
DEEWEEERBRE TN IBEIRERE
=R

(i) HEDNBEAANDB®REA

REMNFAGHNBEEHRENCERRALS
6,246,000 JT (20214 : 5,656,000 7T ) ° &
F20224F NM2021F3A31B IEFE R HER B
FTFEERBITRAOEBEMBERIA -

(v) H 20223 H31BRETA L

R2022F3A31B HEERBEANHFNHHEH
RAEBEITHX S ERBELNR175,222,000% T
(20214 : 222,421,000 7T ) °

+
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20. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. #& - HthEW R B

PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Deposits biogcea 1,774 3,515
Advance to a subcontractor BV RN - 723
Other receivables E b B WK 434 2,483
Financial assets (Note 17) CREE (MFE17) 2,208 6,721
Prepayment AR 1,288 1,160
3,496 7,881
Less: non-current portion of deposits and B RE RIS
prepayments JEBNERER & (338) (607)
Current portion BIHA &6 2 3,158 7,274
Except for prepayment of HKD1,288,000 (31 March Fr 78 17t I8 1,288,000/% 7T (20214 3H31H :
2021: HKD1,160,000), deposits and other receivables are 1,160,000 TT) N e R EMBEWR R D E R
financial assets categorised as those to be measured at REHEKAAENEREE - ASE2E: A
amortised costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits, HEBREFENTNAAETEERMEES -
other receivables and prepayments approximate their
carrying amounts.
The deposits, other receivables and prepayments were Ze HtERERENRDIEATEEE:
denominated in the following currencies:
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FET
HKD BT 3,170 6,098
RMB AR 326 1,783
Total A&t 3,496 7,881
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e B R R M AE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand
— Cash at bank
— Cash on hand

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following

currencies:

HKD
RMB
Others

Total

21. BERBSEE/Y

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FETT

RITHEBRFHERES
—RITHE & 119,618 112,314
—FHEES 158 174
119,776 112,488
==z ERE 119,618 112,314

RERBITEBIZUATEEE:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FAET FET
BT 109,819 106,273
AR 7,238 4,778
EA 2,719 1,437
&&f 119,776 112,488

t25E

L

N
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e B R R M AE

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(a)

(b)

Share capital

Authorised shares capital: JETE AN
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,

1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

Share award scheme

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with the objective to provide
eligible persons with additional incentive to
encourage and retain them to work with the
company. Core Trust Company Limited (the
“Trustee”) was designated to be the trustee under
the deed of trust executed on 19 November 2018.
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BEITRERE:
MN2020F4H1H ~2021F3H318
20214 A1H &202293H31H

22. RAR KRG ERBEE ARG

MR2020%F4 H1H 2021F3A318 »
20214 A1H k202293 H31H

(a) B
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZRERKREAR HE
(in thousand) HKD’000
(FH) FHET
5,000,000 39,000
200,000 1,553

(b) K7 BT E
R2018F10816H EFE M AFEMR
MBS ((ROEBEE]) SERT
AEBATIMFEFIREEIIEE - A
BRBEEFEENARTIE-EFETLEER
~a ([ZFEADBE2018F11 190 &L
FEARBEHIETARATTEAC
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme (Continued)

22. BARBHBEBTETHRERS ()

(b) Bt EREEHE ()

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of
the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the
Company out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee
and be held on trust for the relevant eligible grantees
until such shares are vested with the relevant eligible
grantees in accordance with the Scheme Rules
(“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary
funds to the Trustee to purchase or subscribe for
shares up to 8% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from
time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
eligible grantees after taking into account various
factors as they deem appropriate for participation
in the Share Award Scheme as a grantee and
determines the number of Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the
purchase price and the related expenses from the
Company'’s resources for the shares to be purchased
by the Trustee.

RAR R0 B AT 3RO R AN (TRAEIR A -
BPBREARBLHFEEES T RBFIAR
EXNEEABENBRD REEBRNER
BTEHEAERARARBRETERINAG
ERAEBRARANGEARAENZERD
(IZRFEBREL]) -EFSRIEF SR A
GRETROEZBSE BRAXTEAR
HARES UBEARBRZMEARA
TREETRA8% 2B -

@ﬁﬁﬂﬁ% EXZgN ITRIZEBYHEN
EREMNERSERSERN EEE W
TRAEZRHKEAGERARAN LEBEEH K
HZBhEE EXSARITANKE
AZBRG A RBAZERAZTEAZNE

AERBEHEER-

+

L
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued)
The Trustee shall hold such Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the
relevant eligible grantee has satisfied all vesting
conditions specified by the Board at the time of
making the award and become entitled to the
Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the
relevant Shares to that grantee.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
no shares have been awarded to employees.

Shares held under share 2B ET
award schemes Fig=3 %

22 BARBHBEBTETHRERS ()

(b)

2022
20224
Shares
V. 878

2,056,000

DB & (&)
EAABAEETAREGERARARE
HEARD BEENFERB -FHESER
ERNEREFERNFLERBREELZ
—UIEB R S AERESRHIERD 2
AARERZ BB TEREA-

REE2022F R2021F3HA31B (FFE - i
EREEREKRG -

2021 2022 2021
20214 20224 20214
Shares HKD’000 HKD'000

R FET FEr

2,056,000 2,998 2,998

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. EZREMENR

Trade payables =0 INEN
Accruals and other payables FEET I H & - 3K
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2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
124,151 102,215
2,172 2,262
126,323 104,477
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of the
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

30H K
31E60H
61E90H
91£180H
180H LA E

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables approximate their fair values and

were denominated in the following currencies.

HKD
RMB

BT

AR%

23. EFRHMENSNK 2)

MN2022% B2021E3A31H  IREZ A A2 H

BHRNRZEESNTOT

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
104,833 78,899
2,305 3,159
7,548 6,660
3,417 3,931
6,048 9,566
124,151 102,215

R20224F K202153A31H B 5 R E M EM
MEEEDEEARBERETIRATER.E:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
121,702 96,209
4,621 8,268
126,323 104,477
peeman 2022FEHs 189
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24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24, RIEFATBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary EEMBHRNDRBAEERNEREEZBILY B
differences under the liability method using the tax rate MARNBMERBEEHRNERBEM 2R ERTE -

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when BELEMSHEERBERATCNSNBEEE R
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax MERIEARBES AN EREERELRE
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred TRELR — B MBI AR R 1B T » T Al G AR 8 »

income taxes related to the same fiscal authority.

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FAET

Deferred tax assets EERIRE E 1,189 926
The net movements in the deferred income tax account EEMSHRIB 2 FEEHMT

are as follows:

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

At 1 April w4 A1H 926 265

Credited to profit or loss for the year (Note 10) F R R B BEHS (H1:7710) 232 637

Exchange difference e N =5 31 24

At 31 March M3HA31H 1,189 926
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

24, ERIEFRBH (&)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

BELEREHEENREE (KHEFA—REAER ZH
AR RFERZEHMT

Deferred income tax assets: BRIEFTSHEE:
Accelerated tax
depreciation and
amortisation Provisions Tax losses Total
MER B E R B B HE &
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
20225 20218 20225 2021 20228 2021 20225 20215
HKD'000 HKD'000 ~ HKD’000 HKD'000 ~ HKD’000 HKD'000 ~ HKD’000 HKD 000
FE7 FET TE7 FET TET TET FEr FET
At 1 April M4A1A - - 213 378 789 - 1,002 378
Credited to profit or loss FRRBRENR
for the year (Note 10) (Hi#10) 24 - 132 (165) - 765 156 600
Exchange difference EREHR - - - - 3 24 3 24
At 31 March R3A31E 24 - 345 213 820 789 1,189 1,002

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of approximately HKD5,492,000 (2021:
HKD3,791,000) in respect of losses HKD31,767,000 (2021:
HKD22,976,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely.
Total unrecognised tax losses of HKD28,982,000 (2021:
HKD22,976,000) can be carried forward indefinitely; while
cumulative tax losses of HKD2,785,000 (2021: Nil) will
expire in 2027.

Deferred income tax liabilities:

WA REEBARRERT G N BB EARAES
A AR E R EERRREEAEHEE-

202243 A31H  AEBW AR ERBLEENE
831,767,000/ 7T (20214 : 22,976,000/ 7T ) #ERIE
IE A 15 8 & 495,492,0005% 7T (20214F : 3,791,000
VB 7T ) o A T R T TA 5 18 42 5628,982,0007%8 7T (2021
F:22,976,0008 L) J ERBAAE MAFHIEES
82,785,000 7T (20214 : &) # 120274 g M °

EEFMERARS:

Accelerated tax depreciation

and amortisation Intangible assets Total
MERBRERBH ENEE At
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
20224 202146 2022 20216 20224 20216
HKD’000 HKD000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET FHET
At 1 April R4R1H (76) (84) - (29) (76) (113)
Charged to profit or ERRERETX
loss for the year (Note 10) (Hi#10) 76 8 - 29 76 37
At 31 March R3A31H - (76) - - - (76)

L

+

=]
=

%
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24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5%
is applied to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty
rate is not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to
apply to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by the subsidiary
established in the PRC. As at 31 March 2022, deferred
income tax liabilities of approximately HKD191,000 (2021:
HKD540,000) has not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the remittance of earnings
of the PRC subsidiary. The related unremitted earnings
amounted to approximately HKD1,911,000 as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HKD5,403,000), and the Group does not
intend to remit these unremitted earnings from the relevant
subsidiary to the Company in the foreseeable future.

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant influence
over the other party in holding power over the investee;
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control or joint control. Related parties
may be individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits contributions
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¥ro JEALRORE
R ARAE R

24. EEFRBH (&)
BEFRCEMSHE RPBRKZMIIEDE
MINEIEE B EIRH R E BB MR10% B - &
RPBERESBFINBEHE WPECERE
BREGLESIRBRE AT ZEREEMNH E5%
B - BZE% HERERLIEBHES AHEAS
MEBEZERBHEBMEZTERBEHE - Bt
AEEBERRFBERINWBRADKAKE
BUMTEINTL - R2022F3A31B  AEBI AR
FRENEARELAMNEIFHENRERLY
191,000/ Jr (20214 : 540,000 7T ) & & & BT
B AE - R2022F3A318 B KRIE HZEF
4 /1,911,000 7T (20214F : 5,403,000 7T) °
AEBAENRARARREZEREHEBH B R
AMARELABFIELEARQA -

25. BBt SRS
B IS A A NI A H BB EH AR
BB S — TR THEELATARENOAL:
BAESEACHSREREFMENTEE
BORBFEFIOA+: RAFBEEREES
MENYEREEOREENAL. THAES
A EM AL IR AE B B 5 A
B A SR E At B 88 o

SR R S [ S B S AL 220224 k2021
FIABIHLFEAERFEBBREPETHNEX

25

TEEBEASEHM
TEEEABRBRAKETHRAER -BEE RS
ENHENETEERABNFMUTHAR:

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FHEIT
9,862 9,440
187 72
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26.

27.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided:

Surety bonds B £ 1R 7&
As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds in respect of 3 (31 March 2021: 5)
construction contract(s) of the Group in its ordinary
course of business. The surety bonds are expected to be
released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is
subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to attract, retain and motivate employees, directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options for their
contribution to the growth and profits of the Group, and
to allow such employees, directors and other persons to
participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

26.

27.

XERE
AEBREEBBOREAENT -

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
4,033 16,242

MR2022F3A31H " AEBERAEERFEED
B2 BI31D (202143 A31H 510 ) BEA KR
HEHRBFER ZSERBRORFBEABRESE
HEE W IGEFRERRR o

BREE

R2017512A8H » A2 AR 4 1) B A4 5 8149
BGEM EMRAIE23FEB TR EWEE LA
BTRZERTE BRESSEERS BB R
BEE EFSkHEM2EE WEBROBRE
M mEEAEBEROEMIEH TR A KE
ZEREE BERHMALISDZRAEENERR

BA -

BREGINGERZEZERRAQARRAL
AMBARNER(BEATES FATES
RBYFFATES) REE (TwEBERE) X
ExexRBBERYAKEEFHAKFEL
BRWEMEMAL

BEBREFEBTFREEOMBEREESTE
T A] 3% 17 19 A% {9 42 # 520,000,0000% » 16 7 2N 4
RAHAQRREHEHETRALI0% -

+

L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BB AESTEl ()

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme
has been set out in the section headed “E. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

No share options have been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of
this annual report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M AE

28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES

Below table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
results and net assets of the Group. To give full details of
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length. Unless otherwise stated,

28. TEMBLRAZHE

they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares
that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of
ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by

the Group.

Name of subsidiaries
WEAREE

Indirectly held subsidiaries
BEREHEAR

Sanbase Contracting (Engineering) Limited

Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited
ANELERAF

Siwu Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited
BEMAERERFARDA

Studio 5 International Limited
BRERAA

Controlled structured entity
ZHNERER

Sanbase Management Limited

The Group has the power to direct the relevant activities
of Sanbase Management Limited and it has ability to use
its power over the entity to affect its exposure to returns.
Therefore, it is considered as controlled structured entity

of the Group.

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

R REREEREER

Hong Kong, limited liability
B BRAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
B BRAAE

PRC, limited liability

PR BRAF

Hong Kong, limited liability
B BRAR

BVI, limited liability

REERES BRAA

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered
and paid-up capital
BRARBRRE/

TR RER R

HKD10,000
10,000/ 7T
HKD10,000
10,000 70
RMB1,500,000
AR 1,500,0007
HKD10,000
10,000/ 7T

US$1

e

TRIMEERSE

Ownership interest held

by the Group
*EEBENEERER

2022 2021
20225 20215
100% 100%
100% 100%
65% 65%
60% 60%
100% 100%

BYEAKREXBENRFE
ENAEETZMBRAR -EFR R RENE
RENEHMFFEEERRERAR -BREAHRBI
BARERASEEEFENEBIRENK  FFE
MMAERBL I BARBREHRRERS-

Principal activities
TEEY

Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZREERRAE

Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZAKERRAR

Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Rt ERRERADRMAES

Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Rt ERRERAFRAER

Purchase, administers and holds
the Company’s shares for
share award scheme

BE ERREEARARN ZBEHE
FrisRi

KX A A HEHEE Sanbase Management Limited
ZIEBREE B NERYEHEER AT
ZHERRAR Al FHAEREHELALAEER

REGGEBER-

+
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29. TRANSACTION WITH NON- 20 EHIFEBRERNRS
CONTROLLING INTEREST
On 18 March 2021, the Group acquired the remaining M2021F3A180  AEEBE LMETHIR & REW
49% of the issued shares of Sanbase Cobow Group BTRESSEARAR(ISESE])FHI9%
Limited (“Sanbase Cobow”) for a cash consideration of MEBETROD EZRERN S ESOIEZRE
US$1. Immediately prior to the purchase, NCI in Sanbase =IO IREEA117,0008 70 - N E B R IEE K
Cobow carried at deficits of approximately HKD117,000. RafE kAR RIEE ABIEERNRDZ
The Group recognised an increase in NC| and a decrease MEREHE-
in equity attributable to owners of the Company of the
same amounts.
30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 30. AT M BEMRRRRBEES
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) AT BEMRR T
Company
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
iokz3 FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E RN 246 S
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 482 1,060
Interests in a subsidiary and R—EM B AR & E
a controlled structured entity EEER D 28 38,064 38,064
Financial asset at fair value through  ZARBEFABERZ
profit or loss TRIBE 14,647 13,200
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMAR 102 102
53,541 52,426
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, other receivables and e Hh U R I8 5K
prepayments 881 1,053
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NGIEN 12,838 9,678
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 43,522 59,309
57,241 70,040
Total assets HEE 110,782 122,466
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 30. RATRMBURRREFHEES 2)

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) =2BMBERRE (&)
Company (Continued)
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Vioka F & T FETT
Equity R
Equity attributable to the owners AR T#E A AEERER
of the Company
Share capital % A 1,553 1,553
Share premium %5 % B 30(b) 57,632 57,632
Other reserve HAthf# 30(b) 34,986 34,986
Accumulated losses REtEE 30(b) (19,199) (14,667)
Total equity R 74,972 79,504
Liabilities =K
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 500
- 500
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FET X E At FE A 3R 318 206
Amounts due to subsidiaries VRN NGIE 34,992 41,679
Lease liabilities HEAE 500 577
____..35810 = 42462
Total liabilities BRaR 85810 42,062
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 110,782 122,466
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

30. KR A BERRARRRBRELE »)

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves (b) KXARIREESH
Other
Share reserve  Accumulated
premium (Note) losses Total
Httf# e
158 E (Hit) ZAER B
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FAET FET FET
At 31 March 2020 20204 3H318 57,632 34,986 (18,583) 74,035
Profit for the year EREF - - 3,916 3,916
At 31 March 2021 20214 3H318 57,632 34,986 (14,667) 77,951
Loss for the year FRERE - - (4,532) (4,532)
At 31 March 2022 202293 A31H 57,632 34,986 (19,199) 73,419
Note: Bt -

Other reserve of the Company represented the difference
between the consideration payable of HKD10,000 and the
carrying value of the Company’s subsidiary of approximately
HKD34,996,000 acquired during the Group’s reorganisation
before the Company’s listing.

AR B R E MR R 1 B R E 10,0000 T B
E@EMAARAQXA LT EABEKENKHB QAR
B T8 {8 434,996,000 7T 7 A H) 2= 58 -
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31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and chief
executive of the Company for the year ended

1. EEENRER
(a) EEREETHRAEME

RE E2022% K2021E3A3IB LEE - &

31 March 2022 and 2021 are set out below:

Name of directors

B4

Year ended 31 March 2022

Chairman and chief executive officer
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen

Executive directors

Mr. Wong Kin Kei

Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny

Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen

Mr. Law Chun Yat

Year ended 31 March 2021

Chairman and chief executive officer
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen

Executive directors

Mr. Wong Kin Kei

Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis

Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson

Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny

Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen

Mr. Law Chun Yat

Note

Wit

HZ22022%3A310
tEE

TRETHES

TiHELE

ATES
BRELE
fFERRE
RE&EL )

BUFRTES

REXLE (i)
RERLLE (i)
PHERE (i)
REZEE (v)
i ()

#Z202153A31H
LEE
IRFRITHAR
Ea et

WIES

ERELE

st

REEEL ()

BUFHOES

REXRE (i)
RELEE (i)
YHRERE ()
REREE (v)
i3S i (v}

.~

EERAQRFAEZESTHEAENB = 0
T

Employer’s

contribution

Discretionary to pension
Fees Salaries bonus scheme Total

EEERAREH
He £ BT B CL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FET FET FET FET
240 1,980 360 18 2,598
240 1,560 300 18 2,118
240 1,380 203 18 1,841
- 2,400 200 18 2,618
216 - - - 216
144 - - - 144
80 - - - 80
139 - - - 139
17 - - - 17
1,316 7,320 1,063 72 9,771
240 1,980 500 18 2,738
240 1,560 500 18 2,318
240 1,380 300 18 1,938
- 2,400 100 18 2,518
216 - - - 216
216 - - - 216
240 - - - 240
1,392 7,320 1,400 72 10,184
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31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 1. EEENRER &)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) ESBRBESTHRAEME (&)
emoluments (Continued)
Note: M it -
()  Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo was appointed on 11 March () RELELR2020F3A11HESRT-
2020.
(i)~ Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis was appointed on (i) RESIFLAER2020F1A21HEZ £

21 January 2020.

(i) ~ Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson was appointed on (iiy PR EEN2020F1 A21HEZE LK
21 January 2020 and resigned on 30 November 2021411 4308 & fE -
2021.

(iv)  Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny retired on 30 July 2021. (iv) EHREBEER2021F7A30HEE-

(v Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen was appointed on (v)  BHEEANR2021F8F9HEERT-

9 August 2021.

(vij  Mr. Law Chun Yat was appointed on 25 February (i) ZBIERFEAERNR2022F 225 ELRE-
2022.

The executive directors’ and chief executives’ EXFTRATESRITRBINTHEE

emoluments shown above were mainly for their ABREREMEEARARAMANEB =AM

services in connection with the management of BRI 2FH e EXFIRBLIFERITEETH

the affairs of the Company and the Group. The TN EARFEREAESMIEERBED

independent non-executive directors’ emoluments L -

shown above were mainly for their services as

directors.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the AEEBRWMFAMERES A EHN - E

directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining BARE I AR A A & B BB B X 1 A

the Group, or as compensation for loss of office B S 1E A BB (E -

during both years.
There was no arrangement under which a director MEAMEBEESHITREHAERREN

or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any EEAMe B
remuneration during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R M AE

31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 31(a), the directors did
not receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the financial year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
does not pay any consideration to any third party for
making available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any
time during the financial year (2021: Nil).

1. EER/ARESR #)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERNEBEANRRLEF

FRETFES1 (@) FTIREE SN EFRFERN &
BB WBUE R KRN R AR LR A (2021
FoE) -

DERUMEEREQFE=ZSRULNK
=
HE2022F3A3MHEFEERN AR A WARF
ERHEEREMEME=H M HEM
KRB (20214 : &) o

FRUESE RESEFNEZEREB
EEEAZRANER BLUERR
HittX B HEHR

MR2022F3A31H MEBEUNESE XESHE
SR EZERBEEE AT S ANTANER
HMUERKEMRZ S (20214 ) -

ESRRS RSREGHTHNEXRR
=
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TEEEMEAREXEBARNEARS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R M

32. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 32. iﬂ%l)lbi%ﬁﬂ
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EEEL RS
Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash BRATGEHAIEEREEEE R FENR
generated from operations i 7%
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note HKD’000 HKD’'000
B &t FET FET
Loss before income tax & BT 15 4 B 5 18 (6,833) (953)
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation on property, plant ME- -WEREZEIITE
and equipment 7 1,298 1,460
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (FAEEEZTE 7 3,139 3,140
Amortisation of intangible assets BT & B 5 7 - 175
Fair value changes of financial asset RAREFAEBREZ
at FVPL TREENRAAEES (1,353) (6,083)
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) £ &t & & 5l {6 /&5 18
on financial assets R/ (fE) 602 (1,058)
Finance cost — net B SAAR — F 8 8 38 115
Gain of termination of lease RIEHE WS 14(iii) (10) (45)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME - HERREEE
and equipment - 259
Operating loss before working LEECEHR 2 KEEIE -
capital changes: (3,119) (2,990)
Trade and retention receivables 5 MR E & W 14,297 16,645
Deposits, other receivables and R& -~ B R U R TR AT R
prepayments 4,438 3,930
Contract assets BHEE (33,259) 88,293
Trade payables =Y ANEN 21,652 (100,443)
Accruals and other payables JE &1 K2 H At JE 1 3R (93) (971)
Contract liabilities BHAERE 8,741 575
Cash generated from operations EEEAZHS 12,657 5,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M AE

32. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of financing activities
An analysis and the movements of financial liabilities
from financial activities during the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021 as set out below:

At 1 April 2020
Cash flows
Additions (Note 14(i)

Termination of lease (Note 14(ii))
Other non-cash movements

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2021

At 1 April 2021
Cash flows
Additions (Note 14(i)

Termination of lease (Note 14(ii))
Other non-cash movements

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2022

2. BERERER ()
(b) MEFBH AT X

DWERMEBENRE E2022F K202143
ABIBLEFEARAZEEHZ5 T

R2020%F4 A1H

AN =g —1
Eﬁ EonE

NE (BaE140))
IETRE (B 1400))

HipFER & 8
PE X =5

E2)

R2021F3H31H

M2021F4H1H

AR = —1
Eﬁ EnE

NE (BaE140))
IETRE (A 1400))

HiphIp R o &
PE L =5

202243 H31H

=]
25

L

]

Lease liabilities

N

HERE

HKD’000
THET

(4,994)
3,211
(4,489)
1,065
(323)

49

(5,481)

(5,481)
3,120
(1,818)
581
62
(32)

(3,568)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBRE

Results

Revenue
(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax (expense)/credit

(Loss)/profit attributable to the
owners of the Company
for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to the owners of FRARQ BHEA A

the Company for the year

¥
Year ended 31 March
BE3AMBLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

20224 20214 20204 20194 20184

HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’'000

FET FET FET FET FET

WA 413,122 481,286 638,030 650,455 376,208

BRETSFLA (B5B)

i A (6,833) (953) 28,062 37,394 11,462
R (AX) /& (413) 1,393 (6,321) (7,076) (4,551)
FRAQBEER A

FE(L (E518) i F

(5,735) 397 16,224 28,116 6,911
FANRDBHEE A
fERamE (BER)
I %5 4B K8 (5,626) 810 16,133 28,070 6,911
EERAE
As at 31 March
MW3A318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’'000 HKD’000
FET FiET FET FET FiET
BEBTE 287,042 265,409 370,858 382,088 191,595
BEARE 144,893 116,204 218,653 245,284 79,750
BEFE 142,149 149,205 152,205 136,804 111,845
FEfE R % 136,858 142,484 141,791 131,858 111,845
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